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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one
of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading
gas utilities group in China, which is principally engaged in
downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural
gas distribution, natural gas filling stations operation and sales of
gas appliances. Its operations are strategically located in areas
of China, which are economically more developed and densely
populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in 2017
via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2017, CR Gas'’s
portfolio is consisted of 238 city gas projects in 22 provinces of
China including 14 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative
municipalities with an annual gross gas sales volume of some 19.7
billion cubic meters and 30.81 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years,
taken various measures to promote the development and utilization
of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync
with the core development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open
and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such
as coal and crude oil. The Natural Gas Development “13th Five-
Year” Plan published by the State also stresses that the popular use
of natural gas will play an important role to protect the ecological
environment, improve air quality, enhance life quality and health of
the general public and achieve sustainable development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development
period, as China remains the most important region in the
global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed
to take advantage of such a favorable operating environment
and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas
industry by continuously expanding through organic and external
growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue
of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean
energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to
our customers; offering growing and sustainable performance
to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal
development opportunities to employees; and contributing to the
protection and improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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Pan-China Footprint of CR Gas
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The Group  will expand steadily via
sustainable organic growth and quality
external acquisitions, at the same time
actively explore new opportunities arising
from its gas value chain and customer
base.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2018, benefiting from the steady operation of China’s macro economy
and the continued promotion of environmental protection policies, China’s
natural gas consumption increased significantly to reach 280.3 billion
cubic meters, representing a year-on-year increase of 18.1%. Capturing
market opportunities, the Group achieved rapid development, recording
an annual gas sales volume of 24.28 billion cubic meters, representing
a year-on-year increase of 23.4%. The number of gas users reached
34.64 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.4%. The Group
continued to reinforce the management foundation and pushed for internal
reform, which resulted in continuous improvement in operating efficiency
and steady increase in profitability. The profit attributable to owners of
the Company was HK$4.45 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 21.8%. The Group proposed to pay a final dividend of 62 HK cents per
share, bringing a total dividend of 77 HK cents per share for the year,
representing an increase of 40.0% from 55 HK cents per share in 2017,
with a dividend payout ratio of 37.7%.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2018, the PRC government implemented a series of environmental
protection policies, with an aim to continue the promotion of air pollution
control and reinforce “coal-to-gas conversion” plan in civil, heating,
industrial and other industries in key areas. Leveraging on the advantage
of the opportunity to prevent and combat air pollution, the Group tapped
on the potential of the industrial and commercial market and actively
promoted the consumption of natural gas by industrial and commercial
users to achieve rapid growth in gas sales volume. During the year, the
Group’s natural gas sales volume reached 24.28 billion cubic meters,
among which, the industrial gas sales volume reached 11.41 billion
cubic meters, representing an increase of 32.0% and accounting for
47.0% of the total gas sales volume of the Group. The commercial
gas sales volume reached 5.45 billion cubic meters, representing an
increase of 22.5% and accounting for 22.4% of the total gas sales
volume of the Group, and residential gas sales volume increased by
15.8% to 5.52 billion cubic meters, accounting for 22.7% of the total
gas sales volume of the Group.

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

Benefiting from a larger market share of gas projects in cities with a
developed economy, coupled with the rapid development of urbanization,
the Group’s gas connection business for residential users has been
growing constantly, connecting 3.22 million new residential users for the
year, including 500,000 old residential users and 300,000 rural “coal-
to-gas conversion” users, and connected 20,000 new industrial and
commercial users. As of the end of 2018, the average gas penetration
rate of the Group’s city-gas projects in China increased from 48.4% at
the end of 2017 to 50.3%.
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NEW PROJECT EXPANSION

The Group continued to focus on developing its core business of city
gas operation. Leveraging on strong marketing capabilities, good
corporate branding and operational excellence, the Group completed
the registration of 19 subsidiaries with an investment of HK$1.49 billion.
The city gas projects acquired by the Group are located in Jiangyin,
Zoucheng, Yangshan and Wuming. The area under franchise rights
expanded to 10,000 square kilometers, and the number of new users
was anticipated to be 600,000. The gas sales volume increased by 130
million m® per annum.

By the end of 2018, the number of city gas projects of the Group has
reached 248, spanning across 22 provinces, 3 direct administrative
municipalities and 73 prefecture-level cities. The expanding operational
regions and prime geographic locations of the projects have laid a
solid foundation for the sustained and rapid growth of the Group’s core
business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy
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NEW BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Following the continuous optimization of economic structure in China
over the recent years, the demand for clean energy has been increasing.
Riding on the favorable policies and advantage of huge market for gas
projects and its existing customer base, the Group took the initiatives to
develop new businesses such as distributed energy and charging posts
to meet the energy needs of different customers, which has fostered new
growth points and expanded our income stream.

In 2018, 6 new distributed energy projects were approved by the Group,
with a total investment estimated to be HK$1.07 billion. Upon completion,
these projects will contribute an installed capacity of 108MW and an
additional gas volume of 270 million cubic meters.

In terms of charging posts business, charging posts in Hangzhou and
Nanjing companies were put into service with stable operation, and
38 operation sites were established, with an annual charging capacity
of 62.0 million kWh and an operating profit of HK$16.40 million. Bus
charging stations from Zhenjiang and Yueyang companies were put into
operation successively in 2019, further expanding the scale of charging
posts business.

VALUE-ADDED BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Group thoroughly explored customer value and vigorously promoted
value-added services. In 2018, the Group realized value-added business
income of HK$1.55 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of
34.8%. Among them, gas insurance realized premium income of HK$190
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 111%. The Group will
continue to take flexible market-based approaches to make the value-
added services a new profit growth point for the Company in the future.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In 2018, the Group recorded a turnover of HK$51.165 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 28.4%. The Group’s overall gross profit
margin was 26.6%, representing a decrease of 3.3 percentage points as
compared with last year. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
attributable to the proportion of revenue from sales and distribution of
gas fuel and related products and revenue derived from gas stations
to turnover increased significantly from 73% last year to 78.6% in 2018
while the proportion of revenue from gas connection with relatively
high gross profit margin decreased from 22.4% last year to 19.4%. The
Group believed that the increase in the proportion of gas sales revenue
reflected the continuous optimization of the Group’s business structure,
laying a solid foundation for the Group’s future sustainable development.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources management
policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure at a sound level.
In 2018, the Group’s cash flow achieved a rapid growth. The operating
cash flow during the year reached HK$8.342 billion, a year-on-year
increase of 7.0%. The Group has sufficient funds and available banking
facilities to meet capital expenditures and operating requirements in
the future.
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HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity ( {i{z4&
BEEPHEL) ) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture ( (FIEAME B ITEHIE) ) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( (GH{E&HEE) ).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate
Governance Report is set out on pages 41 to 59 of this annual report.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2018, the share price of the Group has increased by 8.06
times from HK$3.42 to HK$31 and its market capitalisation has increased
by 21.36 times from HK$3.083 billion to HK$68.94 billion.

From 2008 to 2018, the profit of the Group increased by 17.8 times from
HK$237 million to HK$4.45 billion, turnover increased by 16.1 times from
HK$2.99 billion to HK$51.17 billion and total assets increased by 18.8
times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$73.57 billion.

Based on Bloomberg's report, as at 31st December, 2018, the Group
was covered by 28 analyst reports.

Given the Group's sustained and steady development and continuous
improvement in performance, Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch
Ratings, being three international rating agencies issued reports in 2018,
respectively, upgrading the credit rating of the Group to A3, A- and

& PLATTS
= TOP 250

Platts
Top 250
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A-. The upgrade in rating reflects the Group’s development strategy of
focusing on its core business and its excellent financial performance
have been widely recognised by the market, which will further reduce
the finance costs to be incurred by the Group in its potential financing
activities, and provide sufficient financial resources for the long-term
healthy development of CR Gas.

The Group continues to receive many prestigious international and
domestic acknowledgements from respected publications and
institutions in 2018. Platts named us in Top 250 Global Energy Company
Rankings. Our ranking achieved its climb to position 138 in 2018.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2018, Chinese macro economy continued to maintain stable growth.
With the effective implementation of policies including the promotion
of “coal-to-gas conversion” strategy, the market demand for natural
gas maintained a rapid growth, and the status of natural gas in China’s
energy structure was further enhanced. The “13th Five-Year Plan for
Energy Development” stated that the natural gas supply capacity will
have reached over 360 billion cubic meters by 2020, and the proportion
of natural gas consumption in primary energy consumption will have
reached 10%. On one hand, China continues to increase the use of
natural gas in combination with environmental protection policies. On
the other hand, the development of the industry is regulated from four
stages of production, supply, storage and marketing, further pushing
for the reform of China’s natural gas industry.

In 2019, seizing the opportunities arising from the development of the
industry, the Group will take the initiative in cooperating with the natural
gas promotion and utilization policies of governments at all levels to
achieve sustainable and rapid growth in its core city gas business. While
focusing on the development of the main businesses, the Group will also
revolve around the expansion of industry chains, explore customers
oriented value, step up its efforts to expand new businesses such as
distributed energy and charging posts, promote the development of
value-added services, and provide customers with diversified energy
supply and services in an effort to continually enhance shareholders’
return and promote sustainable development of the Group.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22nd March, 2019
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OPERATING RESULTS

The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 28.4% to HK$51.165
billion and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of
HK$4.450 billion for the year ended 31st December, 2018, representing
an increase of 21.8% over the previous corresponding period. The
operating profit of the Company increased by 19.4% to HK$7.530 billion
and the cash generated from operations increased from HK$7.796 billion
in 2017 to HK$8.342 billion in 2018.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution of
gas fuel and related products, gas connection, sales of gas appliances,
design and construction services and gas stations, which respectively
accounted for 69.9%, 19.4%, 0.7%, 1.3% and 8.7% of the revenue for
2018 (2017: 64.1%, 22.4%, 1.0%, 3.6% and 8.9%, respectively).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Gross gas sales volume increased by 23.4% from 19.67 billion m?® to
24.28 billion m®.

Benefiting from the Group’s larger market share of gas projects in
economically developed areas, coupled with the acceleration of
urbanization and the Group's efforts in connecting gas to old residential
households, the total new connected residential customers in 2018
increased by 7.3% to 3.22 million from 3.00 million in 2017.

In 2018, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
or paid HK$1.49 billion in 19 city gas projects. Most of these projects
are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. In addition,
as at 31st December, 2018, the Company has announced or the Board
has approved another 13 proposed city gas distribution and related
projects with proposed investments of HK$590 million. The above new
investments amounted to HK$2.08 billion.

The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 80 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the Investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby will broaden the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhance and sustain its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments, which

are essential for making decisions on future investments.
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PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business processes
and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external
best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is
also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic goal
to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for change
and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline necessary
to effectively track progress on that road map over time in terms of cost
reductions and performance improvements. All member companies
were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility Contracts” with
head office, and the 82 benchmarks previously identified were further
streamlined into 38 quantitative benchmarks, highlighting the key
objectives and becoming more focused and precise. This ongoing
campaign has led to many satisfying results in 2018.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 80 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining

maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central

procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 85% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2018. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance the
human resources management process with the objective of recruiting,
promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal and external
sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility professionals
with significant expertise and experiences across financial, regulatory,
commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide and
maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for employees
and commit to their training and professional development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for gas
stations, office administration, centralised cash management, financial
reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and customer
service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to improve our
operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through enhancing
the success rate of household safety inspection, shortening user
complaint processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening
the response of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has
optimised user experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has successfully
promoted value-oriented management system to each member company
and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses. In particular, we
further enhanced the centralization of cash management with the
inclusion of more member companies in the system with significant
increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the Group has greatly
reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore, various taxation
rationalization and reduction measures were taken to reduce tax
exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies and
procedures as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to
manage and prevent any potential accidents in the Group’s natural gas
related facilities which may cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied

with the relevant local and national environmental protection regulations
and licensing requirement.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range of
company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns. Meanwhile,
the Group applied new technologies such as big data and intelligence
to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management of gas, so
as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment. In 2018, the
Company invested RMB390 million to complete the transformation of
cast iron pipeline network and old iron pipeline network with the length
of 380 kilometers and 390 kilometers, respectively.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, focusing on the promotion of
20 upgraded safety-based behavioral observations and the training
for certified safety engineers, with an aggregate of 220,000 trainings
provided which effectively regulated employee safety behavior. For
end users, thorough explanations of safety procedures are given and
regular seminars as well as distribution of brochures and booklets on
safety are arranged.

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group have approximately 48,031
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to the
Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training centres
covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-Western China.
These centres are located in our regional centres of Wuxi, Jining,
Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of management and
technical trainings are conducted through the Group for different levels
of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. Improvements were also
carried out on the employee recruitment, assessment, remuneration and
staff retention policies to enhance the human resources management
process with the objective of recruiting, promoting and retaining the best
talents, from both internal and external sources. CR Gas’s management
team comprises utility professionals with significant expertise across
financial, regulatory, commercial and engineering disciplines. We
strive to provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working
environment for employees and commit to their training and professional
development. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, work experience and the prevailing market wage level.
Further, bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards
are made to employees based on merit and performance. The Group
believes this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same
time encourage the employees to give their best performances.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to ensure
compliance with national and local safety regulations.

With new structure and increase in staff number, the Company has set
up 5 regional auditing centers across the country and carried out 131
audits at the Group and member company levels covering areas such
as finance, operation and project construction. Various audit and risk
management guidelines have been revised and issued by the Group.

Reshaping the judicial system, the Group established the system of legal
person in charge of regional corporate legal affairs and strengthened
full compliance with laws. In 2018, the Group assessed key legal risk
areas for seven segments of full operation process for gas such as
gas refuelling operation, handling of gas accidents, procurement and
management, transmission and distribution management, gas procuring,
gas pipeline construction and market expansion.
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ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 24.3 billion
m? of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually
the Group helps to replace approximately 29,507,490 tons of coal usage
and reduce approximately 74,809,986 tons of carbon dioxide emissions
and 595,621 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies participated
in poverty alleviation, donation towards education, caring for
underprivileged groups and volunteer service activities in several
regions, proactively donated money and goods for various public welfare
activities in 2018, thus building good corporate images for the Group.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the shareholders
and employees.

SHI BAOFENG
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22nd March, 2019
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MBERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
g,/
—Z-N\F —E—+tF CRiA)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+-A=1+—HLFE 31st December, 2018 2017 (Decrease)
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
= Turnover 51,165,371 39,837,597 28.4%
EF Gross profit 13,621,728 11,915,789 14.3%
ESER] (BRI EAA K Profit from operations
EBIRAEMBENTELE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 7,530,060 6,305,062 19.4%
F A F Profit for the year 5,888,411 4,910,867 19.9%
ARRIRAFEA ARIEH Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 4,450,101 3,653,994 21.8%
KEEBSHR G F5E Net cash from operating activities
(ZFZ218) (after tax payments) 8,341,530 7,796,322 7.0%
BREARBZNM GEIT) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 2.04 1.68 21.4%
R AHIAR S - B8R GBL) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 62 40 55.0%
2EIRE - B (GBI Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 77 55 40.0%

MiEE < (1)

T/\ °

BRERBFIZD BTN O INEF
BYE - TRERBEIHE MR

Note: (1)

scheme.

EERRIZRERAF

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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—E-N\F —E—+F i S0RD)

For the year ended Increase/

BE+=-A=+—HLEE 31st December, 2018 2017 (Decrease)

FHET FHT
HK$’°000 HK$'000

BEE Total assets 73,571,778 68,763,804 7.0%

RITHEBRRIRS Bank balances and cash 10,392,696 10,355,981 0.4%
R17 EELEMEE®EZEO  Total bank, notes and other

borrowings™ 11,638,022 11,366,719 2.4%

BB HEE Net borrowings 1,245,326 1,010,738 23.2%

RRTRAEFFE ARG #ER Equity attributable to the

Company'’s equity holders 24,081,120 21,992,648 9.5%

PR M 2 Non-controlling interests 7,527,360 7,176,677 4.9%

EmMaE Total equity 31,608,480 29,169,325 8.4%

=E-N\F —E—+tF

BER Financial Indicators 2018 2017

FE = Gross profit margin 26.6% 29.9%

FHE (FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 11.5% 12.3%

FHE (REREG) Net profit margin (attributable to shareholders) 8.7% 9.2%

BERBELE® Debt to capitalization ratio® 26.9% 28.0%

BEAGBLEO Debt to assets ratio® 15.8% 16.5%

ERNEEES Return on equity 18.5% 16.6%

B 5E Notes:

(1)  FERPRIZERAFFIES,501,781,0007% T (1)  The amounts due to an intermediate holding company of HK$3,501,781,000
T JiE U R RS 4% I A B30 1B 573,610,0007%8 7T and amounts due from an intermediate holding company of HK$573,610,000
FEARTT REREREMEEHE - are included in total bank, notes and other borrowing.

(2) BARBELLRIERT ZBEMEGEER (2) Debt to capitalization ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other
FERT EEIHMEERBRBRAL borrowings to total bank, notes and other borrowings and total equity.
B8 -

3) EBEAMBHLERERT BREREMEES (3) Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other borrowings to

REEELENLD -

total assets.
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EERR OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—E-N\FEEHE Operational data for 2018
RIB-N\E RIT—+F
+=A=+-H +-A=+—H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, &%)
EEXRE Operational Performance 2018 2017 Change
EEEHE Number of projects 248 238 10
ERTEEFY (BBF) Connectable householders
(million) 68.87 62.86 6.01
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 50.3% 48.4% 1.9%pt
BMERE (BELAK) Gross sales volume (million m?) 24,278 19,667 23.4%
ERAF Residential 5,522 4,767 15.8%
T¥RFP Industrial 11,406 8,644 32.0%
EERP Commercial 5,449 4,448 22.5%
CNG & CNG station 1,490 1.418 5.1%
LNG&zh LNG station 412 390 5.5%
FHHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(AEBEIHNK) (RMB per m?) 2.68/2.08/0.60 2.62/2.04/0.58 0.06/0.04/0.02
EWRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 155,076 145,522 9,554
EBRF Connected customers 34,642,424 30,810,018 3,832,406
ERBF Residential 34,376,106 30,568,360 3,807,746
T¥/RFP Industrial 18,285 15,224 3,061
[EERIS Commercial 248,032 226,434 21,598
IHERERUBA (ARE) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,892 2,940 (48)
FREBRERE (BEUWR) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
FEEy Total 3,224,555 2,996,077 228,478
AHOE Consolidated 2,243,015 2,078,327 164,688
HI$ 35 (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 359 (229/85/45) 349 (227/79/43) 10 (2/6/2)
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2018 were mainly driven by organic growth.
The Group'’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$51.165 billion (2017:
HK$39.838 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$5.888 billion (2017: HK$4.911 billion)
and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$4.450
billion (2017: HK$3.654 billion).

Turnover

In 2018, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 24.28 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 23.4%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 28.4% from HK$39.838 billion to HK$51.165
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2018.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders
of HK$4.450 billion, representing an increase of 21.8% as compared to
HK$3.654 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 26.6%, representing a
decrease of 3.3 percentage points as compared with last year. The
decrease was mainly due to the proportion of revenue from sales and
distribution of gas fuel and related products and revenue derived from
gas stations to turnover increased significantly from 73.0% last year to
78.6% in 2018, while the proportion of revenue from gas connection with
relatively high gross profit margin decreased to 19.4% from 24.4% in
the previous corresponding period.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, costs and expenses

The increase of HK$246 million in other income was mainly due to the
increase in governments grants and the increase of interest income
resulting from the rising deposit interest rate of domestic banks and
increasing cash pool deposits placed in banks.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as well
as the administration expenses were 8.1% and 5.5% respectively (2017:
9.4% and 6.4%, respectively).

Finance expense reduced by HK$19 million was mainly due to
conversion of Hong Kong Dollar denominated term loans into lower
interest revolving loans, as well as the reduction of outstanding loans.

The decrease in share of results of joint ventures by HK$ 97 million and
the increase in share of results of associates by HK$116 million were
mainly due to the reclassification of Chengdu Project from joint venture
to associate.

Taxation amounted to HK$1.989 billion, representing 25.2% of profit
before taxation (2017: 25.7%).
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$8.342 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$10.393 billion at the end
of 2018. The Group continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet
to raise low cost finance during 2018 and had a total bank loans and
senior notes and other borrowings of HK$11.638 billion outstanding as
at 31st December, 2018. The Group maintains a very healthy balance
sheet with a low gross debt to total asset ratio of 15.8% (2017: 16.5%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of 18.5% in
2018. The Group invested a total of 19 new projects in 2018. The rates of
returns were expected to improve once all these newly acquired projects
started to attain higher operating efficiency and generated more returns
in 2018 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2018, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongging, Zhengzhou,
Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Anyang and Wuhan. The
percentage contribution from all projects were expected to gradually
become more evenly distributed in the future. The broadening of the
Group’s earning base will ensure that the Group will not rely heavily on
any single city gas project.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



REBESFFBER

FH BREBRCEEBRSRAFEA
83.4288 L (=T —+F : 77.96(8% ) ©

REBNFAZEEARAZ14.90EETH
TEU IR T - ANEE X H58EBTT (=2 —
4 458 D) R RER EIR AT
REBMABLNE - LR ES T RAE
EmgcgReng  BOBERETHRSE
7o RFH - REBNRITEBREREUR
HMFRABI04ERB T (ZT—+HF 104
BABTT) - RELEHBPI%IABITEHE © 96%
AANRBEHER1%AETEHE -

AEENESBRAFEALEEBRSRS
RERBEKENEBE (FAXZERRK
KEFRESHEZIIR - NFL - ~A%EEH
ERTT EREREMIEEBTEA116EET
—E—tF 114EBTT) - Eh48% (=
—HF 47%) WIRTT REREMEE
FIERBIEE  BR—FREE - MEKA
ER—FrREEZE - ARE - BT  ELK
HEEZR D AMEEERTE1% - 47% * 50%
F2% (ZF — £ F 1% > 46% * 51% %
2%) > 53% (ZT— 4+ : 47%) BIRTT -
ZEEEMETIRZEFETE RA7% (=
T—+%F : 53%) BIZEEN KT BHIRIT
BRRELTRE -

REBRFENRITHEBRRIRS B104(E8E
JUe AEEBRFROE B E (RRT
Tf&ﬁMFf@%%M@éﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁ
15.8% (ZZT —+ % :16.5%) - AEEH
MG RREBESAMNIEE R oF RIS -

AEBERTSEE TR ARB4AMET (=
%fti:m%%ﬁ&AE%%%‘>%
—NEZE-_T-_ZTFINHNORITHE
mﬁ HERBEAEEM  WLUZEHF KT
REL  REBEFHA16%8 %mﬁ
FH%E(_? +F 72%) K31% (=%
+F 12%) HARKEER -

EEE W& D

Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$8.342 billion (2017: HK$7.796 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$1.490 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$5.8 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2017: HK$4.5 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and
cash and other deposits was HK$10.4 billion (2017: HK$10.4 billion).
Among the balances, 3% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
96% in Renminbi and 1% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year,
the Group had total bank, notes and other borrowings of HK$11.6
billion (2017: HK$11.4 billion). 48% (2017: 47%) of the bank, notes
and other borrowings is considered as current liabilities and repayable
within one year, the remaining are repayable in more than one year.
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and Japanese Yen, denominated
borrowings accounted for 1%, 47%, 50% and 2% of the total borrowings
respectively (2017: 1%, 46%, 51% and 2%). 53% (2017: 47%) of bank,
notes and other borrowings are interest bearing on floating rate terms
and 47% (2017: 53%) are interest bearing bank loans and senior notes
with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$10.4 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total bank, note and other borrowings over total assets,
was 15.8% (2017: 16.5%). The financial position and liquidity of the
Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$7.8 billion and RMB4.3
billion (2017: HK$6.7 billion and RMB3.3 billion) banking facilities
with maturities from 2019 to 2020. The facilities are unsecured and
with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year, 16% of the HK$
facilities (2017: 72%) and 31% of the RMB facilities (2017: 12%) has
been drawn down.
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Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining flexibility
in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted
short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2018, bank deposits of HK$7.6 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$171 million on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$4.542 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 28th November, 2018, and is
also chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Shi joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited in March 2007. He consecutively served as the assistant
general manager and vice president of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited and responsible for the operation of South China Region. Mr. Shi
holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Southwest
Jiaotong University and a Master Degree from the China Europe International
Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible for
customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai, Jiangsu,
Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. Ge joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and held former positions as
Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior Vice President.
Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in Engineering from Nanjing Tech University,
and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from

1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination
Committee and the Investment Committee. He was re-designated as a non-

FERRE
Mr. Wang Chuandong

executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 31st
January, 2019. He was appointed as a Director and the General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2007. He is currently a
Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. WANG joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited
in 1985 and was previously its Director and Deputy General Manager.
He has over 25 years of corporate management experience in the area
of petroleum and related products trading and distribution and holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining from the China
University of Petroleum and a Master of Business Administration Degree from
the University of Texas, USA.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 47, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in June 2012, and is also a member of the Investment
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as a non-executive director
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited in May 2012, and China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources Land
Limited in June 2012. These companies are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is Chief Strategy Officer
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013 and the
Director of Strategy Management Department since October 2011. He has
worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of Procurement
Department and Executive Director of China Resources Construction
(Holdings) Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from
September 1993 to March 2002. He was also the Managing Director of
China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October
2011 and a Director of China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to
February 2006. He was also a Director of China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from May 2012 to December 2015 and a director
of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from June
2012 to December 2015. He was also a non-executive director of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Enterprise, Limited) from May 2012 to April 2016, which is listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was
also appointed as a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. from
March 2013 to June 2017, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Architectural Management from the
Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a Master's degree of Business
Administration from University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr.
Chen joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 47, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources
National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in July 1994. Mr. Wang was appointed as a director of China
Resources Gas Limited in November 2005. He was a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September 2007
to April 2012. He was a Deputy Director of Internal Audit Department of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from April 2012 to January
2016. He was appointed as a Director of Internal Audit Department of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in February 2016. He was appointed
as the non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings Co. Ltd.,
China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings
Ltd. in August 2014. He was also appointed as the non-executive director
of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (formerly known
as China Resources Phoenix Healthcare Holdings Company Limited) in
November 2016. Mr. Wang was a non-executive director of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited) from August 2014 to April 2016. These companies are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the Finance and
Accounting Department, Capital University of Economics and Business,
a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of South
Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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Madam Wan Suet Fei, aged 42, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2018, and is also a member of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee of the Company. She joined China Resources
Group in August 2008 and is currently the senior Deputy General Manager
of the Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
Madam Wan obtained a bachelor’s degree of business administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1999 and a master’'s degree of
science in finance from the Durham University, the United Kingdom, in 2003.
She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a Chartered Financial Analyst. She previously served investment bank,
multi-national corporations and audit firm in equity research, strategic
development analysis of various industries, finance and audit respectively.
She is currently a non-executive director of China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1313).
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Mr. Jing Shiqing, aged 38, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2018, and is also a member of Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He joined
China Resources Group in July 2003. He worked in China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited from July 2003 to February 2012, with
experiences in various aspects including production technology, human
resources management and administration management. Mr. Jing has
worked in the Human Resources Department of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited since February 2012, and has been appointed as the Vice
General Manager of the Human Resources Department since May 2018
with extensive experience in selection of corporate senior management,
leadership development and talent team building. Mr. Jing obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the Changsha University of Science
and Technology, China, in 2003 and a master's degree of business
administration from the Nanjing University, China, in 2011. He is currently
a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1313).
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Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional
appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate Committee of
the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party on Charities
and Trust of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2018). He was admitted as
a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England
& Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995
and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect
from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and
Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th February, 2010. Mr. Wong
has been in private practice in Hong Kong for over 30 years. From 1984 to
1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong
Kong before setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China and a Master’'s Degree
in Laws from the University of London of England.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. Yu is
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
BIEE kL Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
M . corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
r. Yu Hon To, David . ” . . .
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited, Haier Electronics Group Co., Ltd., Keck Seng Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited, Media Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset
Management Limited (which is the manager of New Century Real Estate
Investment Trust, a Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), One Media
Group Limited and Playmates Holdings Limited which are Main Board listed
companies in Hong Kong. He was an independent non-executive director
of Bracell Limited (formerly known as “Sateri Holdings Limited”) (stock
code: 1768), Great China Holdings Limited (stock code: 141) and Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) (companies listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Yang Yuchuan, aged 54, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company in August 2018. Mr. YANG is the chief executive and chief
macro economist of Prime China Securities Limited, responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of the company. He has extensive
experience in financial industry. Mr. YANG was an executive director of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0509); a non-executive director of TTG
Fintech Limited, a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange
(stock code: TUP); an executive director of Partners Capital Securities
- Limited and the chief executive of Sunshine Asset Management (HK)

BE)I%E Limited. Mr. YANG holds a bachelor’'s degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong
Mr. Yang Yuchuan University in the PRC and a master’s degree of business administration from
University of San Francisco in the United States of America.
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Mr. Hu Xiaoyong, aged 54, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company
in January 2019. He was appointed as the Chairman and an executive
director of Beijing Enterprises Clean Energy Group Limited (Stock code:
1250) in May 2015. Mr. HU graduated from the Tsinghua University with an
executive master degree of business administration. He has approximately
over 22 years’ experience in business management. From 2001 to 2013,
Mr. HU worked with R EIBKIRIR E BB R A R (Zhong Ke Cheng Environment
Protection Group Company Limited*) as chairman. During the period from 1
August 2008 to 30 March 2016, he was an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (Stock code:
371) (“BEWG”). He has been appointed as the honorary chairman of BEWG
since 30 March 2016. During the period from September 2014 to October
2018, he was executive director of Beijing Enterprises Medical and Health
Industry Group Limited (Stock code: 2389), shares of which are listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 57, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014. She is in
charge of the management of East China Region. She was the General
Manager of Nanjing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2006 to 2013.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 52, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation and safety work. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor's Degree
majoring in Petro-chemical Industry Automation from the Nanjing
University of Chemical Technology (currently known as Nanjing University
of Technology), a Master’s Degree majoring in International Economics
from the Soochow University, and a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 44, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for information, finance and internal audit work. Ms. Cheng holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once served as the
Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in investment banking
division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 53, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and legal affairs. Mr. Huang holds a Master’'s Degree
majoring in International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses
to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in March 2000 and has been working for
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since March 2007.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yin Xiaojun, aged 45, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Northern Region. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (& /IFT@IAF A F]) from 1996
to 2008, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines Deputy
Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief Engineer
Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he also served
as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yin graduated from Tongji
University and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Gas Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 53, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of North China Region. He has been with
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2004, where
he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had served as
a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (EEm/ERA
A]), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas Co., Ltd.
(BB AR AR A A)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project Manager
and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. CEMNFTEBRTE
fR 2 7]) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 57, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of Central and Western Region. He is
also responsible for operation and management of the Greater Henan
and Shanxi Area, and concurrently serves as Chairman and General
Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (E5/ZEBERRE
fR 22 7)) since April 2015. He is currently a Committee Member of the Gas
Transmission and Distribution Professional of the China Civil Engineering
Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas Company in 1984
and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985 to 1986. Mr. Chen
served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an Engineer of Jining Gas
Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary of the CPC Committee and
Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2000 to 2005, and
Secretary of CPC Committee and General Manager of Jining Gas Company
from 2005 to 2007.
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Mr. Lu Hong, aged 48, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Southeast Region. Mr. Lu holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin
University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member
to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (b R&ZEFEHE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman
of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (@R FHAE
MABMRAR]) from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member
to Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. ({8&% R
BREABBRATR]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of
Yueyang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager of Kunming China
Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General Manager of Fuzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2009, General Manager of Greater
Fujian Area since 2011, and Acting General Manager of Xiamen China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since May 2015.

Mr. Yang Changyi, aged 58, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2014, and he also
serves as the General Manager of Tianjin China Resources Gas Limited.
Mr. Yang was the Financial Controller of Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, the Financial Controller of Chengdu City
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2007, the General Manager of Xiamen China
Ltd. from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Yang has studied
Ideological and Political Education in Nanjing Normal University and
Technology Economy and Management in Hohai University; he is also
a qualified accountant in the PRC.

Resources Gas Co.,

Mr. Yang Ping, aged 45, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2016, responsible
for the operation of Central China Region. Mr. Yang was the Chief
Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General
Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice General Manager
of the Greater Hubei Area and the General Manager of Wugang China
Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Yang graduated
from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Gas Profession.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Corporate Governance Report

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on
23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it in 2008, 2009, 2010,
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2018 respectively. The contents of
the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties, model code for
directors’ transactions in securities, model code for securities transaction
by relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference of the
Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees, disclosure of information,
communication with shareholders, procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director and board diversity policy.
All the mandatory provisions under the Code have been adopted and
reflected in the Handbook. The Company has throughout the year
complied with the mandatory provisions of the Code except for the
deviation from the code provisions D.1.4, E.1.2 and E.1.3 which are
explained as follows:

Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.
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Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the board should attend
the annual general meeting. The Chairman of the Board did not attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23rd May, 2018
due to other business engagements.

Under the code provision E.1.3, the Company should arrange for the
notice to be sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before
the annual general meeting. The Company did not comply with this
requirement because the Company required additional time to finalise
the annual report.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, five Non-executive Directors and four Independent
Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 37 of this annual report.

During the period from 3 August 2018 to 30 January 2019, the Company
did not comply with the requirements under Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.11
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Following the changes of directors of the Company on 3 August 2018,
the Company had ten directors, three of whom were independent non-
executive directors. The number of independent non-executive directors
of the Company therefore represented less than one-third of the Board.
Pursuant to Rule 3.10A and Rule 3.11 of the Listing Rules, the Company
must by 2 November 2018 appoint such number of independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board. The
Board tried but required more time to identify a suitable candidate to
be the additional independent non-executive director of the Company to
meet the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company applied to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) for an extension of 3-month waiver for the period
from 3 November 2018 to 2 February 2019 from the strict compliance
with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. On 9 November 2018, the Stock
Exchange agreed to grant the waiver to extend the time in respect of
compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules from 3 November 2018
to 2 February 2019.

During the waiver period, the Chairman and the nomination committee
of the Company worked alongside to explore their networking to
identify potential candidates for directorship. The Company arranged
for interviews with all potential candidates to assess their skills,
expertise, various backgrounds (including other directorships held by
the candidates) and their independence as regards each of the factors
referred to in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Eventually, the Board
resolved to appoint Mr. HU Xiaoyong as an independent non-executive
director of the Company.

Following the appointment of Mr. HU Xiaoyong as an Independent non-
executive director of the Company on 31 January 2019, the Company
has fully complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10A and 3.11
of the Listing Rules.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.
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The Board has held regular meetings during 2018. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-N\F —E-N\F —E-N\F —E-NEF

HE =A=+=8 NA++tH hA+mBE +—A=+ANH
23rd March, 17th August, 14th September, 28th November,

Date 2018 2018 2018 2018
=6 £33 FEREE FEREE FEREE FEREE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang

Meeting Chairman Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong

BITES Executive Directors

TEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong V N J V

AEEELE Mr. Shi Shanbo v N 0 N
(R=ZZE—N\F (resigned on
+—AZ+N\BET) 28th November, 2018)

BWRE Mr. Ge Bin N N N J

S EIELEE Mr. Shi Baofeng TiER TiER TER TEA
(R=ZZE—N\EF (appointed on N/A N/A N/A N/A
+—AZ-+N\HEZ{E) 28th November, 2018)

FHTES Non-executive Directors

MHXREE Mr. Du Wenmin 0 TEA TEA TEA
(R=—=—)\F (resigned on N/A N/A N/A
NA=BET) 3rd August, 2018)

PR i 55 A Mr. Chen Ying 0] 0 0 0

FEXE Mr. Wang Yan N \ 0 0

BERL LT Madam Wan Suet Fei 0 0 V v
(RZZ—N\F (appointed on
NAZBEZM) 3rd August, 2018)

SHEEE Mr. Jing Shiging 0 N N N
(RZE—N\F (appointed on
NA=ZBEZFE) 3rd August, 2018)

Bl oA Mr. Wei Bin TiE A TEA TEA FEA
(R=ZB-N\F (resigned on N/A N/A N/A N/A
—A+HBEE) 19 January, 2018)

BAFHTES Independent Non-executive

Directors

BERBEE Mr. Wong Tak Shing N N N J

Falz+ Ms. Yu Jian 0 TiEA N EN
(R=ZZE—N\F (retired on N/A N/A N/A
AAZ+=RHEMT) 23rd May, 2018)

MEEELE Mr. Yu Hon To, David \ N J 0

BEILE Mr. Yang Yuchuan 0 V N N
(RZZ—N\F (appointed on
NAZBEZM) 3rd August, 2018)

EEE S Mr. Qin Chaokui 0 TiEA ENERE N
(RZE—N\F (resigned on N/A N/A N/A

NA=ZHEHE)

3rd August, 2018)

BT (MERR TXER) - Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
Vo= W J = attended

o = ® O = didn't attend
N/A= TERA N/A = not applicable
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The Company has held one general meeting during 2018. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-N\F
=] EA=t+=H
23rd May,
Date 2018
BRIE REBLE

Meeting Chairman Mr. Shi Shanbo

BITES

FEREE

AEBEE (BT N\F+—-A=t/\BFED)
Bwas

SEEEE (RZE-\F+—-AZ+N\BEZE)

FHUTES

HXREE (RZF-N\FNAZHET)
RELE

FERE

RERLLE (RZB-N\FNA=ZREZE)
SUFEE (RZE-N\FNAA=ZREZE)
BELE (M- N\F—HTAHEE)

BUFHITES

BRBRAE

TRzt (RZE-N\FRAA-+=HEMF)
ANEE A

RPEELE (RZZE-N\F/\A=ZHEE)

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Chuandong 0]
Mr. Shi Shanbo (resigned on 28th November, 2018) \
Mr. Ge Bin O
Mr. Shi Baofeng (appointed on 28th November, 2018) TEA N/A
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Du Wenmin (resigned on 3rd August, 2018) O
Mr. Chen Ying O
Mr. Wang Yan V
Madam Wan Suet Fei (appointed on 3rd August, 2018) TEA N/A
Mr. Jing Shiging (appointed on 3rd August, 2018) TEA N/A
Mr. Wei Bin (resigned on 19 January, 2018) TEA N/A
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tak Shing vV
Ms. Yu Jian (retired on 23rd May, 2018) O
Mr. Yu Hon To, David V
Mr. Qin Chaokui (resigned on 3rd August, 2018) 6}

EFEHEZTEE
ARRAR-E-ZFN\B-TZARME
FEMEBSTIEE (KR - EEKZ
BEERANTUBRM AT THEH
12 MR R T XRE -

BRME

ARAREBEEGEEN S TIERERRT
EZMNEETR . HEEEZTIENES
EREREARTRKE BERITERL
peo BRI REMEENESTS X
- WAMANAE - ZFZEEREETE
EENREAEKE TIAEE  WHA B
BATRBESTFE -BEFEMEALREY
REZGBRAVEFMTEEOREERE
BKFAEH o

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

MRl
Gender

[Ei 3
Ethnicity

FiRAE R
Age Group

AR5 4F 2R

Year of Service

E=AH

40-49 (4)

50-59 (4) 60-69 (1)

-
N
W

Number of
Directors

BT
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EERWBIRE LT RRERHEERER
BEfES - B LETRAIREMEREER
ERMEROBRENTERETES - U
BRAAERRESREYRIFOEERNE
E e

FR 2BEZHESMRARANES
B ERMERENEEE 2 B F R
Jl - HEBEBERNAMREREE - ARE
BRBIZESNEIEREM Rtk

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the
Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on
good corporate governance.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
cover the Company'’s business and the statutory and regulatory updates.
The Company has received the confirmations of and/or records of the
training from the respective Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Baofeng is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives
of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the
decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s
day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely,
the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment
and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board, with each
performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and
Mr. Yang Yuchuan and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang
Yan and Madam Wan Suet Fei. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

° make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts; and

o oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal controls
and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During 2018 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2017, and those for the half-yearly
results and yearly results for 2018. These include the review of the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices; the review of
the continuing connected transactions of the Company conducted in
2017 and 2018; and the review of the internal audit reports prepared
by the Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2018. Details of individual attendance of its members are set out
in the table below:

Ed:3 K&

Chairman Members
aRz:  BERLt BEI%E Ruxs
(R=2-N%F (R=B-N% (R=B-NF (RZB-N\%F
ER=t=H NAZH NAZH -AthA
MEEEE IBRE ) Ezff) EGBR4E Ezff) #1E)
Madam Wan Mr. Yang  Mr. Wei Bin
Ms. Yu Jian Suet Fei Yuchuan (ceased
(retired on (appointed on (appointed on on 19th
Mr. Yu Hon Mr.Wang  23rd May, 3rd August, Mr. Wong  3rd August, January,
A Date To, David Yan 2018) 2018)  Tak Shing 2018) 2018)
“Z-\§$=R=t=H 23rd March, 2018 y 0 o NEMNA o TEBRNA TEENA
“Z2-N\ENANH 8th August, 2018 | o TERNA 0 | o TERNA
“T-NF+-AZF+=H  22nd November, 2018 N o ERNA y \ Vo TEE NA

FMESS Remuneration Committee
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The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Wong Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Jing Shiging.
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During 2018, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
and determine the incentive awards, related bonus and compensation
of the Executive Directors and senior management. Details of individual
attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

IR 24|
Chairman Members
HXREE sHEsL
(R=B-N\§ (R=B-NE
EGBAE NAZRBME) NAZREZE) MEERE
Mr. Wong Tak Shing Mr. Du Wenmin Mr. Jing Shiging  Mr. Yu Hon To, David
(resigned on 3rd  (appointed on 3rd

August, 2018) August, 2018)

—-\FNLATEA 14th September, 2018

V TERA NA Vv v
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WEBABIRBES D 2 FHENEIIAT -

o 5

FeEE (Bx)

For the year ended 31st December, 2018, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

AH

Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

0/7C% 1,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001#7C% 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001#7C 42,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001% T %2,500,000/% 7T
2,500,001% 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001% 7T % 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 % 754,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 % 754,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 7 %5,000,000/% 7T

HKDO to HKD 1,000,000

HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000
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Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuan
dong (Chairman), Mr. Jing Shiging and three Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr.

Yang Yuchuan.

The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors
thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2018, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

REZBEER=ZF )\igﬁiﬁ RE&EF - T The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during 2018. Details of
FEEKERER LIS the individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
iR HE
Chairman Members

REMLE  HXRAE REEAE RELE  Fazt zEEis

(R=2-NF (R=Z-N\F (R=Z-N% (R=2-NF (R=Z-N\F (R=Z-NF

ERZt=A NBZH NAZR NB=H EA=t=H NAZA

IERE B B BZf) EBBAE  AEER% BZf) &) BE)

Mr. Shi Mr. Du Mr. Jing Mr. Yang Mr. Qin

Shanbo Wenmin Shiging Yuchuan  Ms. Yu Jian Chaokui

(ceased (resigned on (appointed on (appointed on  (retired on (resigned on

Mr. Wang on23rd  3rd August, 3rd August,  Mr.Wong  Mr.YuHon 3rd August,  23rd May, 3rd August,

RS Date Chuandong  May, 2018) 2018) 2018)  TakShing  To, David 2018) 2018) 2018)
ZE-)\FT-RZT/\H  28th November, 2018 | TNERNA TER NA | | | Vo MERNA ER NA
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration
to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available
time and relevant interest;

(c) Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

(d) Reputation for integrity;

(e) Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board;
and

(f)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration
to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to
the Company, including but not limited to the attendance of the
meetings of the Board and/or its committees and general meetings
where applicable, in addition to the level of participation and
performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but not
limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
subject to any amendments as may be made from time to time, in
addition to the Criteria.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such
as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from third-party agency firm and proposals from shareholders of
the Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination Committee’s
consideration. The Nomination Committee may request the
candidate(s) to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the
Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(f)  The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment, and where a
non-executive Director is considered, the Remuneration Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the proposed
remuneration package;

(9) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members of
the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate
and decide the appointment as the case may be; and

(h) All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman)
and Mr. Chen Ying, and one Independent Non-executive Director namely
Mr. Wong Tak Shing.
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During 2018, the Investment Committee passed 2 written resolutions by
all members of the Investment Committee dated 17th January, 2018 and
17th December, 2018, respectively to review and approve 2 investment
proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

On 23rd May, 2018, Ms. Yu Jian retired as independent non-executive
director and ceased to be chairman of corporate governance committee.
On 23rd May, 2018, Mr. Shi Shanbo was appointed as chairman of
corporate governance committee and resigned on 28th November, 2018.
On 28th November, 2018, Mr. Shi Baofeng was appointed as chairman
of corporate governance committee.

On 3 August 2018, Mr. QIN Chaokui resigned as independent non-
executive director and member of the Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. YANG Yuchuan was appointed as independent
non-executive director and member of Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Yang Yuchuan, and one Executive
Director namely Mr. Shi Baofeng.

The Corporate Governance Committee has not held meeting during
2018.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee, conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control covering all material controls, including
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the Company’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and their
training programmes and budget. With respect to procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Company has set out written policies and procedures in relation to
the handling of inside information, including but not limited to measures
to ensure compliance of disclosure requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection, pipeline
infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc); financial
management (cash custody and management, payment approval
process, receivables management, accounting policy adherence, etc);
safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection and maintenance
process, safety system and related safety incident reporting structure,
etc); engineering and construction management (tender process
reviews, project management procedures and practice); key materials
procurement (vendor and materials qualification process, tendering and
quality control processes, etc).
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In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control system currently
put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 82 to 253.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as independent auditor during
the year. The remuneration for services provided during the year to the
Company’s Auditor includes:

—B-N\F

2018

FET

FriR RS Services rendered HK$°000
BET RS Audit services 10,455
FEBRRTRT - PEARAEEH Non-audit services for: Interim results review 1,402
&t Total 11,857

56 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



DNEAMWE
REWERTHEERBTBHNERED - R
£069m R-E-—LFNA-BHEZE
RABMWE - RR—NERFEFERGE
BOETE - Bt — BN ERETIE - RIRAH
RTEEMITNEBA - BERELELIFR
REANMERHER @ RAEEEERIL AR
RAMEGNAEREREENESTSRHE
BR - ARRHEBEANTIZHEARER
PR NERE - BEARABKER-ZF
—N\EfF A EBREANE NI/
BHEEERE -

% SRAE R
RRBMBRISBAENEST

BEBRE-NAN—FRFE(REED
F7alk MEZ2RAHBAELARRAD
R (ERARBBRRAEG L2RERE) +2
Z—HEBRANRRBRREEARART
BERFFRIRE - MEEN LA ERZIXER
H-t+t-ARREAMEE RKREKRER
FHALNZ2FATBTEREH -

BRBESHIASHEAERKAIRIZEARD
ANBBIERER it 5B BEFEE
E265E I AE1901-02% -

RRRAELREBRZER

BIRARLNEE 76X E80M - HBEARRQA]
MR R AR RBRRAGIRE 2 BRI
KRLRZ+H 2 —(B6%)2ELBE (2
FAD  HTDM002EBEELHE - A
MARAIRERE@MERK  (@)MAEERT
—EREAGEE ZREELBM - SN
AR AR ZAE EIEX B LN S £ E)
H2REBEE R(b)A A EEERTMRRE
Aei@mEZRRERTER,0007F 2 BRit
2 UENREZAE LR AERATIE
BSEERE EIE -

EREREE

Corporate Governance Report

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. Lo, aged 69, was appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 1st September, 2017. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1976 and has been in continuous practice since qualification.
He is currently a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although
Mr. Lo is not a full time employee of the Company, he reports to the
Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on
governance matters. The primary contact person of the Company with
Mr. Lo is Mr. Joshua Li, the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Lo confirmed
that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of Continuing Professional Development
training required of a solicitor in respect of 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the maximum
number of Directors determined by the members in general meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor relations
activities, as it believes that effective communication with shareholders and
investors is very important to help investors to gain a better understanding
about the Company’s business performance and strategies.

In 2018, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 950
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may be
made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 45 and note
46 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on
the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships
with its key stakeholders are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 2 to 11, Report from the Chief Executive Officer on pages
12 to 20, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 24 to 28,
Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 59 and Directors’
Report on pages 60 to 81 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief Executive Officer and
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements while the financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in note
42 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators
is provided in Financial and Operational Highlights on pages 21 to 23
of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 92.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 95 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2018, amounted to HK$7,470,447.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 62 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
15 HK cents per share paid in October 2018, total distribution for 2018
would thus be 77 HK cents per share (2017: 55 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 14th June, 2019
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 31st May, 2019.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

° the Company and its subsidiaries’ (collectively, the “Group”)
actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;
° general business conditions and strategies;
° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and

each of the other members of the Group;
° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity

and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;
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o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

. liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

. possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's

business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the Bye-
laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to
and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 20th May,
2019 to 24th May, 2019, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 24th May, 2019, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 17th May, 2019.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 31st
May, 2019 and the register of members of the Company will be closed
on 31st May, 2019. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 30th May, 2019.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$23,858,719,000.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2018, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$1,490 million in 19 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. As at
31st December, 2018, CR Gas portfolio included 248 city gas projects
and its footprint covered 22 Chinese provinces and included 3 direct
administrative municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 73 prefecture
level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2018, the Company has announced or
the Board has approved another 13 proposed city gas distribution and
related projects with proposed investments of HK$590 million.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2018 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 254 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2018, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 30%
of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$6,336,000 (2017:
HK$4,858,000).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong
(Re-designated as non-executive director on 31 January 2019)

Mr. Shi Shanbo

(Resigned on 28th November, 2018)
Mr. Shi Baofeng

(Appointed on 28 November 2018)
Mr. Ge Bin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong
(Re-designated on 31st January, 2018)
Mr. Du Wenmin (Resigned on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. Chen Ying
Mr. Wang Yan
Mr. Wei Bin (Resigned on 19th January, 2018)
Madam Wan Suet Fei (Appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. Jing Shiging (Appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Ms. Yu Jian
(Retired on 23rd May, 2018)
Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Qin Chaokui (Resigned on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. Yang Yuchuan
(Appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
(Appointed on 31st January, 2019)

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Shi
Baofeng, Madam Wan Suet Fei, Mr. Jing Shiging, Mr. Yang Yuchuan and
Mr. Hu Xiaoyong shall retire from office at the Annual General Meeting
and shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Ge Bin,
Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Yu Hon To, David
shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual General Meeting and
shall be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (to
which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow
subsidiary was a party) subsisting during or at the end of the financial
year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entities is
or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2018, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest
or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company.

EERRERERAT —T-NEER

67



68

EEEWRE

Directors’ Report

(b) RARREEEEEREE (ZR) A (b)

AR ([FHEE]) ERTEBERR
HER D K

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frit s

BEAIL

HREKRE BB EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

TERE HAE 167,999 0.0052%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

Bt Notes:
1. WARZZ— \F+_A=+—BF#E 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

R TR AR T B RIS
EREB2MEBITROOBEILL ©

2. LXHRENMERERAESEAR
SEBAFDEE

(c) RALAMEBELEERELARLTF (c)
(T#EHE]) ERTEBRRABER
mH RS

shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued shares of

CR Beer as at 31st December, 2018.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

corporation of the Company

i R 2

wEASH

HRHBXE R EE Aggregate

BEEME Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

BRIE S A 500,000 0.0072%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position

Bt Notes:
1. AR -—ZE—N\E+-A=+—BFF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

EHEM LR ARRERGOT R BRI
EHEMR MO BITRONEDL

2. LtXHRENMAERRRAEEAR
SEAANFNRE ©

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued shares of CRL

as at 31st December, 2018.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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(d) REAFMEBEIEEFEELZRER (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
AR (TEHEN]) EBRTEERRME China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),
R0 R an associated corporation of the Company

Frib s
BEAIL
HRRKRE BB B8 Aggregate

BEEnR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

TEXRE e 44,000 0.0009%

Mr. Wang Yan Long position
B EE Notes:

1. WARZZE—N\F+ZA=1+—HM#F 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
EHE B AR DI B RS shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued shares of CRP
EHEN2HEETROBED L as at 31st December, 2018.
2. EXFBRENMEEGRBESUE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
HHBEAEHEFE - capacity as beneficial owner.
(e) MEADTHRE EEEBEICRIERAR (e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

~E (TFERXE]D ERITEBEREE
B IR A HYRE 2R

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
associated corporation of the Company

PR RS

BEISHL

HRRKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

BRIE S HE 230,000 0.0033%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position

B EE Notes:

1. UARZZE-/\Ft+-A=1+—Bm#
EHRRE B SARBRFRERA
ERREZMEBITRONBEDILL ©

2. EXAEEMNMERSRMEENE
SHBEAHNEE -

1.

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares

of CR Cement as at 31st December, 2018.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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) REAAAAB:EEIBEEEER
AR (2HBE]) BRTEERRE
B AR 49 O A 3

(f) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR Pharm”),
an associated corporation of the Company

Frit#Esm

BEAI

HRERKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEnR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

FEXE [ S=) 2,000 0.0001%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

s - Notes:
1. HAR-—E—NE+-A=+—8F 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEBRBELBRIAEROTRLE
BEEREERHCBRTRONED
Lt o

2. WEERROAMESZIREERA -

REEREEE
RIZZENF+-A—B  ARARH—IA
BN e 2R S ((REBEE])) &
bt AEBER B ERRNEIEEELHE
REBFT BB 2 MER RS - REARTYHE
FA—HKAARR R EE L EEEF5%I A
tRBEEENAR (RERAD > patE
BEERADLME ERERBMSAER
BB D LARUAERERBEMARTFE
ZHEENZETHATNADIL -

HEEEE ERTE TRERENEREER
SEHER - WIRESRB RBEAEE R
BRRGBHERAREREEEZES - 1
HEINARARHRAEE I ERREFRHE
BEERZ - RIEWESSIRATKLL - BE
STEIERM AR+ FREK - RIREE
B SRR IR R A BB B AR I T 48
ik (E 8 RERMD B E LR BIAARAR
T2 BITIRZNE5% 2 0.5% R °

shares and underlying shares of CR Pharm to the total issued shares
of CR Pharm as at 31st December, 2018.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the spouse of the
Director concerned.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”) in which selected
employees of the Group or investee companies (being any company in
which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5% or more attributable
equity interests and in calculating the percentage interest so attributed
(the “Investee Company”), the percentage interest held in the Investee
Company shall be multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of
entity through which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to
participate in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide incentives
and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies in retaining its
existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide
them with a direct economic interest in attaining the long-term business
objectives of the Company. Unless early termination by the Board, the
Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date. The maximum aggregate
numbers of award shares which can be awarded under the Incentive
Award Scheme and to a selected employee throughout its duration are
limited to 5% and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company has
appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”),
pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by the Trustee from
the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased
at an aggregate cost of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including
transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and
held by the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any
further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

The Scheme was expired on 1st December, 2018 and the Company was
working on the closure of the Scheme. During 2018, the Company did
not grant any award share. Details of the movement of the award shares
held by the Trustee are as follows:

REBROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZEZENFEALHEER Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
R-E—ZTERERHE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZT——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RIZE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZE—=FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RZE—NFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RIZ-—RFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
R-Z—RERERLEE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RZT—EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZZE-N\FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RZE-NF+-A=+—H0&EH Balance as at 31st December, 2018 45,797,384

EHRIERERLT —Z—N\EFERH
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BERXRS
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EMBAREIEBRMRBR AR ([T
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E=gRRARAEEIBENEANAR
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Connected Transactions

On 14th June, 2018, Zhenjiang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
(“Zhenjiang CR”"), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Zhenjiang City Construction Industry Group Co., Ltd. (“Zhenjiang City
Construction”) entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant
to which Zhenjiang CR has agreed to purchase, and Zhenjiang City
Construction has agreed to sell the property in Zhenjiang City at a
consideration of RMB315.67 million (approximately HK$374.41 million)
subject to the terms and conditions set out therein. The Property is
intended to be used as an integrated office building for Zhenjiang CR,
which includes dispatch center, customer service center, archives,
offices, staff cafeteria, parking lots, etc.

Zhenjiang City Construction owns 39% equity interest in Zhenjiang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company) and is a
substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As such, the acquisition constitutes a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that purchasing a prime location and excellent
quality property in Zhenjiang as its new integrated office building will
enable the Group to save time and reduce costs by eliminating needs
in areas such as reporting and approval, construction and decoration. It
can also realize the smart construction of dispatch centers, call centers
and customer service centers, enhance the brand image of the Group,
satisfy the needs of the city government's planning requirements and
further uphold and consolidate the relationship between enterprises
and the government.

On 23rd July, 2018, China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited
(“CR Gas Investment”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Shenzhen Runcheng Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen Runcheng”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources
Co., Limited (“CRC”), entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement,
pursuant to which CR Gas Investment has agreed to sell, and Shenzhen
Runcheng has agreed to purchase 40% equity interest in Dalian CR
Gas Co., Limited (“Dalian CR”) (representing the entire equity interest
in Dalian CR held by CR Gas Investment) at a consideration of RMB255
million (approximately HK$291 million) in cash.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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As at 23rd July, 2018 and immediately before completion of the
Disposal, 40% and 60% of equity interests in Dalian CR are held by
CR Gas Investment and Dalian Gas Group Limited, respectively. Upon
completion of the Disposal, the Group will no longer hold any equity
interest in Dalian CR.

Shenzhen Runcheng is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC and CRC
is the controlling shareholder of the Company. Shenzhen Runcheng is
therefore an associate of CRC and a connected person of the Company.
As a result, the disposal constitutes a connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of the high cost of gas source production and the inversion of
gas prices, Dalian CR faces risk of incurring losses in future periods. It is
expected that Dalian CR will gradually complete replacement of natural
gas infrastructure in the next few years before it can turn losses into
profits. During this period, there is uncertainty as to whether Dalian CR is
able to obtain government subsidies. After discussion and research, the
Directors believe that it will be better to invest the resources of the group
in more profitable projects. Disposal of the equity interest of Dalian CR
will enable the Company to improve the effective use of resources and
consider more investment opportunities, thus further enhancing the
competitiveness and profitability of the Company.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which are
subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

EERRERERAT —T-NEER
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B8 TARFEARARRNEET
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P EEERSFERBE-T—\F+
A=t -RLEFEEANERSHELER
REEEHANT

(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair

and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.

Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2018 or

the maximum daily amount are summarized as follows:

BHE
—ZE-N\F
+-F=+—~H
LFFE

For the year
ended

31st December,
2018

BEWHE
(EELMR : AR¥722,607,6967T)

RRARZRWMBRARIBLARARZRNER
DR (—RKRPBERIHERETLE 5
AMARAREBIELT (AGREERE
BRAR - KREBRRRAERDA - L RE
HEEMEERAR - EMNEBRIARA
AIRGHERBRAERAR (2BHERZ
T-AF+ZAZTAIY) HEBRE) K
BRAR  BHsF -

RZB-NF+ZR=+—RH ZEAXRA
MEARELTERARKN AR AFMREE
MR ERIANRATILH % - RS -

Sale and Purchase Agreement

(Annual Cap: RMB722,607,696)
Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited (WA XA R K B R 2 7)), a limited
liability company established in the PRC which is
the substantial shareholder of these subsidiaries of
the Company namely, Yangquan China Resources
Gas Limited, Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd,
Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd.,
Huozhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Yangqu
China Resources Gas Co., Limited (all agreements
entered on 30th December, 2015).

On 31st December, 2018, these subsidiaries of the
Company entered into new agreements with Shanxi
Natural for the purchase and supply of natural gas for
a further term of 3 years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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+-A=+—
LFENERREEE
Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,
2018

BRA TR

(i)(b) B& T 17 AR 7% b

(if)

(FE LR : AR¥1,700,000,0007T)
(i)(a) 7t =

T-HEF+ZA=+H" ' K
DAL A B ERITRIS ELKE
EHRITRMDBERLA ([EHIR
171) (— BB NG TR
1) fI— It - BT —~F
—RB—HRBE®R AH3F (KIk
HR&HE—FPER) - EERMNEAE
AR ([FEBERD]) FEEBR
TRARNAIERER ©

RZB-NF+_A=+—8"
AAFGBEHRITERTR KR
FETFFIRAE AT AL —IEHT % - 7
HI34F (MRIFHIRHE—FIER) -

AR AL E
HIRTT 2 B ERITIR -

RZZE—RF+—A=+H &
R AL AE (S IR TS B R E
BREFRERAR ([ERBEFED ]
Y B-EF-RF-A—H
A RHBF (BRIEMREHE
—FER) ERBROHIBAEERE
FERAN R E R o

R-T-NE+-A=+-8"
ARG EEBEEERIET R
BRF5ET S —EH - A A
(B S HIRATE — IR -

Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)
(i)(a)On 30th December, 2015, the Company

entered into an agreement in respect of the
use of commercial bank services with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”),
a municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, for
3 years effective from 1st January, 2016 (unless
extended for a further period). China Resources
Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a controlling interest of
CR Bank and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of deposit
and non-deposit services received from CR
Bank for 3 years (unless extended for a further
period).

(i)(b)Other than deposit services, the Company

(i)

utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank.

On 30th December, 2015, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the
trust services with China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd., (“CR Trust”), for 3 years effective from
1st January, 2016 (unless extended for a further
period). CRC has a controlling interest of CR
Trust and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of non-deposit
services received from CR Trust for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).

EMRRERERA T

ANE#1,424,610,0007TC
RMB1,424,610,000

AR #1,000,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000,000
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+-A=+—
LFENERREEE
Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,
2018

R A M5 &
(FE LR : AK%1,700,000,000

(U]

(if)

7T)
RZZE—REF+-A=+=8"
RARGRARAR (RETAKBA
A (MR R B S B B BB RRAN))
mEN (RE) ARAR ([FEHE
ERAal) - EaEERG REH
SEQANARKESANEW
M AR (RERETER LA
a) (RRARBRIN) ([EHEE LT
AR REFAHBARHEBE
T ARERETERNERR
HBEEF L HE - BHASTE (K3
HR G —HITER) °

RZE—RFE+A=Z+=H"
/NI %N/ R vl oF a2
AR REMRS (REBR
PR BIRK SL KA A R]) 3%
EHEE LT RAREBARKE
FOEBRNRBEELHE B
HA3EF (BRIFHIRAE—TER) -

Framework Loan Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)

(i)

(if)

On 22nd December, 2016, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
intra-group lending between the Company
(and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
established in the PRC) and China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”"),
company in the CRC, CRH and its respective

any

subsidiary companies, which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, other
than the Company (“China Resources Group
listed company”) and any of its subsidiaries in
respect of Hong Kong dollars, RMB or, United
States dollars loan for 3 years (unless extended
for a further period).

On 22nd December, 2016, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of
the intra-group lending between any PRC
established subsidiary of the Company and
CRC (and any PRC established subsidiary
of CRC) or a China Resources Group listed
company in respect of RMB loan for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions under normal
course of business are provided under note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as
follows:

—E-N\F
2018
FHET
HK$°000
HE THEBRQ R M IFERAR Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 179,468
subsidiaries
INEES PN vES Gk R w IR N Interest income from deposits placed in 36,883
a fellow subsidiary
MR R E R RN ERF EBA Interest income from loan to a fellow 4,441
subsidiary
B EME AR IR (K5E) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 828,407
subsidiaries (Note)
ENRREWNBARNHEERAX Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 12,829
BB ARHERERNEERAX Rental expenses paid to non-controlling 334

M BEBEUARARENERARARBERA

-
R e

AAFHER REBEE_ZT-N\E+A=
T—HIEFE - EBET EMREIE14AE
IR ERE ©

FERR

BTIXAEEEN RZT-NF+ A
=t—B BEFERAQATHREZRL T
BEMAL (UIFEERADFITHER)
RARRRG RAEEED S - EEREE
# REERDIEXVERE2 37 B R E AR
ARAREENERIRE » REBERAR
IR ES BRI F336FFE KR
B ERIOAR

shareholders of subsidiaries

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2018.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2018
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:
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RAEQXRNER Long Position in the Company
i s
BEEH
BEME FRIXR RHBE  Aggregate
RREZH 54 Nature of Long or short Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity interest position shares  of interest’
ZHEE (BF) BRAA EnHEAA Bhkn HE 1,407,828,991 63.30%
([EREEMRT]) 2 Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas"y
£H (88) BRAR? REHIARMER ARER 18 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited ZEHARNER NAER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky")? Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ZERHBRAR ([EERR]) 2 REH R AR REER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRC"?
REEEERAR ([REER])? RGN A R ARER A 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Company Limited  Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRCL"y
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.®  SHRH|D B NERES e 204,212,000 9.18%
Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
Capital Research and EnEAA oy 5= 204,212,000 9.18%

Management Company®

M

Beneficial owner

Notes:

Beneficial interest

Long position

ARZZE-N\F+_A=+—HFHK
MEFRBRREARRAZIEHTRONG
T e

EHEERIREEBERAADAINRAR
7]1,407,828,991% A% 1n 14,470,000/
BOPHEEEEEZ  ZWMRAFHEAE
H(EE) BRAFNEZENBRR -
b EH(RE) BRARBERIERER
A]#91,422,208,901(¢ fe 1) P B & ©
£ (5£E) BR A5 BACRC Blueskyf)
FEMBAR EMBAEBROKE2ER
B EZEBHRHOATREENZENBR
Ale At EH(£E) AR AR CRC
Bluesky * R & o B2 B R ER A
A AEHY1,422,298,991 JEAX 10 R A A o

Capital Research and Management
Company AThe Capital Group Companies,
Inc.ly = &M BT - At - The Capital
Group Companies, Inc.#18 ARAAFH
204,212,000% &7 76 =

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2018.

CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the
Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC. CRC is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRCL. So, China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRC and CRCL are therefore deemed to have interest
in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

Capital Research and Management Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. So, The Capital Group Companies,
Inc. is deemed to have interest in 204,212,000 shares of the Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 11th June, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$2,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement. The facility has been used to
repay the existing HK$2,000 million bilateral loan facility on 15th June,
2015.

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with any
outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three years
from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks shall
declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding
amounts together with interests accrued thereon and all other sums
payable by the Company to be immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be avoided
by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President, Vice-president,
Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary and other officers
for the time being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for the time
being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their
respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices
or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their
own wilful neglect or default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2018.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired at the conclusion of 2018
annual general meeting of the Company.

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young
as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 22nd March, 2019
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To the members of
China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 92 to 253, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in the context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B E Impairment assessment on goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements
and assumptions in estimating the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generated units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been
allocated.

As at 31st December, 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill
was HK$668,860,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements, goodwill acquired in a
business combination was allocated to CGUs that were
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
management considered each subsidiary represents a
separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on the value in use calculations which required the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
goodwill included:

o Obtaining an understanding of the management’s process
and basis used in preparing the cash flow forecasts,
including significant assumptions;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used
by assessing the cost of capital of the Company and
comparable organisations in the industry, and where
relevant, using our internal valuation specialists to
independently develop expectations for the discount rate,
and comparing the independent expectations to those
used by management;

o Evaluating the cash flow forecasts used, by comparing
them to recent performance and trend analysis; and

o Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in the
financial statements on the impairment assessment,
specifically on the key assumptions that have the most
significant effect on the determination of the recoverable
amount of the goodwill.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
WAER Revenue recognition
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We identified the recognition of gas connection income,
margins, assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities as a key audit matter due to the involvement of a
number of judgements arising from the change of accounting
policies following the adoption of the new accounting standard
in the current year.

As disclosed in notes 6, 24 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income
amounting to HK$9,942,691,000 for the year ended 31st
December, 2018 and recognised assets related to contract
works and contract liabilities amounting to HK $2,625,560,000
and HK$12,342,544,000, respectively, as at 31st December,
2018.

The management of the Group exercises significant
judgements in assessing the impact on adoption of new
accounting standard, including the progress in satisfaction
of the performance obligation in gas connection contracts,
valuation of contract variations, the completeness and
accuracy of forecast costs to complete; and the ability to
deliver contracts within forecast timescales. The complexity
of the above assessment process applied in the Group’s
recognition policies on gas connection require significant
judgments and could have a material impact on the revenue,
margins, assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities reported in the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, margins, assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities included:

o Assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
analysis on the gas connection related contracts and
the related impacts on adoption of the new accounting
standard;
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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contracts for gas connection and monitoring stage of
completion and development of gas connection projects;

Discussing with the management to assess the
assumptions used in the recognition and challenging the
management’s key judgements involved in determining
the extent of work;

Reviewing the construction progress reports on a sample
basis prepared by project managers by agreeing the
contract sum and budgeted total costs to respective
signed contracts and approved budgets and checking
material costs and labor costs incurred to purchase
invoices and internal payroll records, and recalculating
the performance progress with input method based on
the costs incurred and the budgeted total costs; and

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group’s
estimates on the progress in satisfaction of the
performance obligation through identifying if there are any
late adjustments on the same contracts across different
years and checking completion of selected contracts
through evidencing delivery of completed contracts.
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRETSEEES P NMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REELTGHEZ Interests in joint ventures
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter
due to the significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of judgements in the recognition of gas connection
income which could affect the amount of interests in joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2018 and share of results of
joint ventures for the year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in
the business of sales of natural gas, liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines as set out in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements. As disclosed in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount
of interests in joint ventures as at 31st December, 2018 and
the gas connection income of the joint ventures for the year
ended 31st December, 2018 were HK$9,510,144,000 and
HK$3,130,781,000 in aggregate, respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgement explained in the
above key audit matters entitled “Revenue recognition”, we
considered the recognition of connection income as one of
our focus areas in the component audits of the significant joint
ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures
included:

o Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s significant
joint ventures by reading their financial information
and discussing with their respective management and
component audit teams about the financial performance,
significant events occurred during the year and the key
areas of judgement made in preparing their financial
information to identify and assess the risks that are
significant to the audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements;

o Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit
evidence obtained from work performed by component
audit teams of the significant joint ventures of the Group
by reviewing their audit documentation and discussing
the results of their work with them; and

o Working with component audit teams of the significant

joint ventures to carry out those procedures set out in the
above key audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”.
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Other Information Included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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B HERE
Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

EEMALRERAT —T—\FTR
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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B HERE
Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tjen, Michael.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22nd March, 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE-T-\Ft-A=t+-BL&E

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

—E-N\EF —E—+F
2018 2017
B 5% FER FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 6 51,165,371 39,837,597
SHER AR Cost of sales (37,543,643) (27,921,808)
EF Gross profit 13,621,728 11,915,789
=N Other income 7 936,984 690,684
HERDHEAX Selling and distribution expenses (4,131,753) (3,734,037)
TR Administrative expenses (2,829,966) (2,585,015)
CREEZMEEIEFE Impairment losses on financial assets, net (66,933) 17,641
B 7 A 7R Finance costs 8 (459,632) (479,103)
BEEERRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 557,324 654,378
FEIRES & R R A Share of results of associates 249,297 133,047
B 5 A g A Profit before taxation 9 7,877,049 6,613,384
BIE Taxation 10 (1,988,638) (1,702,517)
FE R F Profit for the year 5,888,411 4,910,867
FRHEMEEMKE (FAX) Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year
BER T EEES 7 EE/EH9IEH Item that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
MEEFHEN Z5 Exchange differences arising on
translation (1,407,968) 1,990,347
EETEEF 7 HEEEEMIEE Item that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
EERBRATEI AEMEE Equity investments designated at fair
W H PRI E - value through other comprehensive
income:

NEEZS) (NRFIE) Changes in fair value, net of tax (60,287) -
FA2EKTEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 4,420,156 6,901,214
IATALTEIEERER : Profit for the year attributable to:

VNG Y= DN Owners of the Company 4,450,101 3,653,994
FEPERR M 2 Non-controlling interests 1,438,310 1,256,873
5,888,411 4,910,867
AR AT EEFAZE RS Total comprehensive income for the year
1azE attributable to:
FiN/NEIE 2 =N Owners of the Company 3,197,594 5,204,602
FEPEAR M 2 Non-controlling interests 1,222,562 1,696,612
4,420,156 6,901,214
BT BT
HK$ HK$
FIREF Earnings per share
AR Basic 2.04 1.68

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R==F—N\F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2018

—ZE-N\F e
2018 2017
Bt s FERT FHET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W% - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 14 30,918,515 28,608,288
AR HEARIE Prepaid lease payments 15 1,926,460 1,714,508
KEE Investment properties 16 68,182 46,151
RELATFINIKRE Investments in joint ventures 17 9,510,144 10,818,388
REEE N RIAIRE Investments in associates 18 3,438,449 2,227,235
BEARAFEFALMETE Equity investments designated at fair
W R AR & value through other comprehensive
income 123,605 -
AR HERE Available-for-sale investments 19 - 67,006
Bk Goodwill 20 668,860 677,681
KR Operating rights 21 1,234,006 1,258,813
BEEBIREE Deferred tax assets 33 265,822 239,961
REEILES Deposits for operating rights 1,593 2,838
FENBEAOFIBRSE Deposits for prepaid lease payments 79,256 71,018
M - BEREREES Deposits for property, plant and
equipment 309,642 258,853
48,544,534 45,990,740
MENEE Current assets
FE Inventories 22 940,057 595,051
RSB 5 B 3¢ K L Ath g U Rk Trade and other receivables 23 10,964,798 9,462,556
ARIBABEE Assets related to contract works 24 2,625,560 =
EREFERIENRE Amounts due from customers for
contract works - 2,257,359
FE L TIE Prepaid lease payments 15 96,583 90,364
BRI TFER Pledged bank deposits 25 7,550 11,753
RITE/R LIRS Bank balances and cash 26 10,392,696 10,355,981
25,027,244 22,773,064
mEEE Current liabilities
FERHE 5 BR 30 K E At FE 1~ X Trade and other payables 27 18,485,551 13,241,708
ERAE Contract liabilities 28 12,342,544 -
ENEFEARIEFE Amounts due to customers for contract
works - 12,808,001
BT & Government grants 29 68,116 40,924
RITRHEAMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 2,634,961 5,327,669
e IR Taxation payable 715,910 592,670
34,247,082 32,010,972
mEEEFEE Net current liabilities (9,219,838) (9,237,908)
39,324,696 36,752,832
EWRRERERAT —2—\FEH



e MR R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R=ZZ—-N\F+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2018

—B-n\% —T—tf
2018 2017
b= FHExT T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

BAR K fFHE Capital and reserves
A&7 Share capital 34 222,401 222,401
] Reserves 23,858,719 21,770,247

RARER AE(ER Equity attributable to owners of the

Company 24,081,120 21,992,648
IR = Non-controlling interests 7,527,360 7,176,677
31,608,480 29,169,325

FEREBEE Non-current liabilities
BSfBe Government grants 29 224,247 162,887
SRITNHMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 251,382 251,516
BEERE Senior notes 31 5,823,508 5,787,534
HEREEE Other long-term liabilities 32 188,647 159,358
EEFITERE Deferred tax liabilities 33 1,228,432 1,222,212
7,716,216 7,583,507
39,324,696 36,752,832

FREBIAZHFEMBEHRREHEZTERN
—E-NEFE=ZAZ B REET R
WHTIALTRREETSEE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 253 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22nd March, 2019

and are signed on its behalf by:

EFER
WANG CHUANDONG
EF
DIRECTOR
E:

CHAIRMAN

Ed {4
SHI BAOFENG
BF
DIRECTOR
B
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-Z-—\Ft+-A=1+—HILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

ADTRBAEL
Attributable to owners of the Company
AR
Bk BRHEE HABR EARE  ENRR SAEZRE  EMRE SRR REEd 0 FEREE BAEE
Shares
held for
incentive Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital Translation award Other ~ Merger  Retained controlling  Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve  profits  Sub-otal interests  equity
Téhn TEn  TEn  TEn  TAn  TEn  TEr TR TR TR TEn A
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000
(Wia)  (Wb) (W) (Mid)
(Notea) ~ (Note ) (Notec)  (Note d)
R=E5-t5-A-A At 1st January, 2017 222401 6378643 7,388,600 2053 (1631132)  (166,250) 2,088,683 (8727518) 12,194,281 17,768,243 5936550 23,704,793
EREH Profit for the year = - = - - - - 3653994 3653994 1,266,873 4910867
FREEEENESZBRAML  Exchange differences arising on
3L iranslation and other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 1,550,608 - - - - 1,550,608 439739 1,990,347
FR2E (Fx) WALE Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year - - - - 1550608 - - - 3653994 5204602 1696612 6,901,214
FERERIE Capital contribution from non-controling
interests - - - - - - - - - - 53011 8301
BAfiRE (Kit12) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (980,197)  (980,197) - (980,197)
ERHEATEERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (509,49) (509,496)
g2 Transfer - - - - - - 416,664 - (416,664) - - -
R=F-t§+-A=1-R At 31st December, 2017 222,401 6378643 7,388,600 2053  (80524) (166,250) 2,505,347 (8727,518) 14451414 21,992,648 7,176,677 29,169,325
FIEASBASLBZ0RNTE  Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 - - - - - - 88915 - - 8915 - 88915
RZE-N\E-A-B(BEJ])  AtistJanuary, 2018 (restated) 222401 6,378,643 7,388,600 2053  (80524)  (166,250) 2,594,262 (8,727518) 14451414 22,081,563  7176,677 29,258,240
FRE Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 4450101 4450100 1438310 5,888,411
RATES AL AEMEHRE  Change in fair value of equity investments at
REATERS (MkFE) fair valug through other comprehensive
income, net of tax - - - - - - (60,287) - - (60,287) - (60,287)
FREEELNESZBRAML  Exchange differences arising on
2EkE translation and other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - (1,192,220 - - - - (1,192,220)  (215,748) (1,407,968)
ERaEkELE Tota comprehensive income for the year - - - - (1,192220) - (60287) - As0M00 3197594 1222560 4,420,156
FEhERTE Capital contribution from non-controling
interests - - - - - - - - - - 83720 83,720
Bfifs (M) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (1,198,037) (1,198,037 - (1,198,037)
ERHEATEERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (955,599) (955,599)
@2 Transfer - - - - - - 522,201 - (522,291) - - -
R=F-\§+=A=1-R At 31st December, 2018 222401 6,378,643  7308,600 20535 (1,212,744)  (166,250) 3,056,266 (8,727,518)) 17181,187 24,081,120 7527360 31,608,480

EHRREZERAERAF



96

40 A
=]

RE2BE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve arose from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures from
an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory public
welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and the changes in net assets
attributable to the Group in relation to the increase in ownership interests in
subsidiaries through cash injection.

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

—E-N\E§ —T—+tF
2018 2017
Bt 3 FTHERT FHET
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
XK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
35 AT v ) Profit before taxation 7,877,049 6,613,384
FHE Adjustments for:
BTG R AR Finance costs 8 459,632 479,103
A EWBA Interest income 7 (333,599) (256,373)
WA ES AHMEEZES  Dividend income from equity
AR 7RI & B AR B U investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (484) -
EERR TS Government grants recognised 7 (114,927) (39,104)
EEE L AT RIS AT%H  Share of profits and losses of joint
Kt ventures and associates (806,621) (787,425)
HEWE  BRER&EEIE Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 9 2,195 10,757
HEBMBALRIEESE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease
payments 9 1,227 _
HEGE L FKE Gain on disposal of joint ventures 7 (12,936) =
FEUE 5 B FURME (BEE) Impairment/(reversal) of trade
receivables 9 39,333 (38,362)
H b fE W R (B Impairment of other receivables 9 27,600 20,721
Y WENKETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 1,626,869 1,563,290
BREBR A K FRIE Release of prepaid lease payments 9 60,415 83,721
KEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 9 1,803 3,265
ey e Amortisation of operating rights 9 53,444 79,240
BEESEHAINKEE Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 8,881,000 7,732,217
FEEM Increase in inventories (345,006) (147,254)
FEUE 5 BR 3k N H b E Wk (Increase)/decrease in trade and other
(), m receivables (344,823) (1,024,687)
AR TI2EEEELM Increase in assets related to contract
works (368,201) -
R FA R T2 IEE N Increase in amounts due from
customers for contract works - (234,857)
JERTB SRR R EAh FERTFIE N Increase in trade and other payables 1,627,956 2,339,127
SRBEEM Increase in contract liabilities 699,048 -
R P& R I2KIEEM Increase in amounts due to customers
for contract works - 832,141
g %%Fiﬁ'ﬁﬁ/ﬁ Cash generated from operations 10,149,974 9,496,687
R BECEMEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (1,808,444) (1,700,365)
REEKFMBRESTFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 8,341,530 7,796,322

EMRTERERA T
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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HE_Z-N\F+_A=+—BILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

—ZE-N\F —E—LF
2018 2017
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BREEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
HEE [0 5 b 77 SR F 15 7R Proceeds from redemption of other deposits 35,453,324 35,314,542
RRMEATER Repayment from a fellow subsidiary - 1,756,173
BlEE QRIS Dividends received from joint ventures 309,960 620,339
2 U B Interest received 324,179 257,776
HEME - BENMRETSHE Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 474,831 161,340
B & AR E Dividends received from associates 45,078 65,063
BEEYE  MENKZEABRAN  Receipt of government grants for property, plant
IEgEETika and equipment 203,479 51,625
M E EFRITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 7,253 48,088
HEFEM A FRTSRE Proceeds from disposal of prepaid lease
payments - 18,603
FEREMFR Placement of other deposits (35,453,324) (31,159,890)
BEME  BFE RFEEBONZK Payments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment (5,462,599) (4,366,055)
AR RMBATIREMEFEF  Advances of loans to a fellow subsidiary (925,222) (1,703,100)
BRI A TR M EREI Advances of loans to an intermediate holding
company (573,610) -
NE B RNRIRIRE Investments in joint ventures (275,334) (370,189)
M - BEREREES Deposits for property, plant and equipment (50,789) (249,715)
(BT IR ELRARE) KB (Advance to)/repayment from non-controlling
FEPE AR M 2R AR SR A IR X interests of shareholders 174,218 (237,632)
REEE R RIMRE Investment in associates - (159,202)
XS FEN L IR Prepaid lease payments made (378,807) (108,857)
(FEMBEHZERS) HEFER  (Deposits)/disposal of prepaid lease payments
MA#EoE 9,932 (68,511)
KRN Payments for operating rights (28,179) (44,757)
CIEEXUNEIE=T /¢ Advances to joint ventures (5,659) (15,912)
FHEEBRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (3,050) (11,338)
g 2% LI E 0k N/ Payments for acquisition of investment
properties - (4,801)
KRS Deposits for operating rights - (2,738)
REEKMARESTE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (6,154,319) (209,148)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_Z- \F+-_A=1t—RALFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

—ZE-N\F e
2018 2017
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mEEK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FRITREMEE New bank and other loans 2,634,129 9,713,516
JEAT R AR X B RIR Amount due to an intermediate holding
company 3,501,781 -
(BB B A R FEFERRHERS ) / KiEB (Repayment to)/advance from non-controlling
DA GRS EA R interests of subsidiaries (51,318) 115,201
IR R EE Contribution from non-controlling shareholders 83,720 53,011
EBERITREMES Repayment of bank and other loans (5,322,822) (10,636,558)
BARE Dividends paid (1,198,037) (980,197)
BT IFZERRAR R AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (955,599) (509,496)
ERFLE Interest paid (425,294) (460,810)
RAELRAER Repayment to joint ventures (65,917) (451,433)
MEXKFMARSEE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,799,357) (8,156,766)
ReRBREEEYEMERE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 387,854 4,430,408
FNRERBELEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,355,981 5,500,753
EXEHNTE  FHE Effect of exchange rate changes, net (351,139) 424,820
FRESRESEEY > BRTT CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
#HHRREAES OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK
BALANCES AND CASH 10,392,696 10,355,981
EBRRERERLAT =T \FFH
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BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

—REHR

ARBB RN BAREZMA LA
HEARAF HEBRNNBBHER
ZMARRR (T i &
TRIBRTARNBE MK ZNER
(£E) ERQR] (EREERF])
MERKERARATEEREGRA
A(hEERD (FIEPEERE
DA RARAR—FERFEARK
B ([hE]) KIZWAFR - ARBEZE
T3 s 52 I £ 2 2 S B A IE A AR
FRARBER —EIHEE

AR A—REEZRAR] £EFE
MEBRR - A2 ARIRBENTINE
%9 BRI 5E45 - 46 %247 -

FRMBHERAET (NET)) 25
RARARBAR/—RBRODNREBER
FrEmH Em AR MEKLEHKRE
ENEER  AURARREERRE
2R EF L E BRI BN
RETEREHE -

RGREEMBREFE AR
RZE-NF+=ZA=+—HBX
SENRDEERAERDEE
9,219,838,000/% 7T [k AN 5= B A & AN 7
J&£252,872,000/% 7T & — F A E HH Y
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GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (*CRH"), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is
China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL”) (formerly known
as “China Resources National Corp.”), a company established
in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The addresses of
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the Corporate Information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 45, 46 and 47, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) as the Company is a public company with its shares
listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where most of its
investors are located and therefore, the directors of the Company
consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the operating result
and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$9,219,838,000, and the Group
has capital commitments of HK$252,872,000 and commitments
under non-cancellable operating leases of HK$150,433,000 due
within one year as at 31st December, 2018. As at 31st December,
2018, the Group has bank and other borrowings totalling
HK$2,886,343,000 of which HK$2,634,961,000 was classified as
current liabilities. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that there are good track records and relationship with banks which
would enhance the Group’s ability on renewing the borrowing
facilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$10,146,414,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other factors
described above, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from
31st December, 2018. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—N\E+-_A=+—HIEE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers and the related
amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign currency transactions and

advance consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and measurement
of share-based payment
transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue

from Contracts with Customers
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of investment property

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28

Annual improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 2, amendments to HKFRS 4
and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant
to the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature
and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described
below:

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January, 2018, bringing together all three
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification
and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

With the exception of hedge accounting, which the Group has
applied prospectively. The Group has recognised the transition
adjustments against the applicable opening balances in equity at
1st January,2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 39.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impact of adopting HKFRS
9 on the statement of financial position, including the effect of
replacing HKAS 39’s incurred credit loss calculation with HKFRS
9’s expected credit losses (“ECLs”).

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS 39 and
the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1st January, 2018 is

HERESRIA T 2R LR HER as follows:
W
BRI EREI0N ERUBREEEN
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
iE iE
Measurement Measurement
Rl k2] ENSE AVTERE &8 55
Re-  Fair value
Category Amount classification adjustment Amount Category
Mzt THAL THAL THL THL
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets
RATEE AE A2 Equity investments at fair value FVoCl!
FlEERARE  through other comprehensive ENl: (%)
income (i) N/A - 67,006 88,915 155,921 (equity)
KB : AT ERE From: Available-for-sale
investments (i) 67,006 -
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments (i) AFS? 67,006 (67,006) - - NEANA
A RATEE A To: Equity investments at fair value
Hi2®%zE  through other comprehensive
HRAR & income 0] (67,006) =
BB SRR Trade receivables (ii) L&R® 4,334,126 = - 4,334,126 AC*
HiEWZ R EHM  Other receivables and other
LE assets L&R® 1,396,750 - - 1,396,750 AC*
B#EMETFR  Pledged bank deposits L&R? 11,753 = = 11,753 AC*
RITEBRRIEE  Bank balances and cash L&R® 10,355,981 - - 10,355,981 AC*
HitEE Other assets
AREE Contract assets (i) 851,394 - - 851,394

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

"FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

2 AFS: Available-for-sale investments
3 L&R: Loans and receivables
4 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

Notes:

(i) The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate certain of
its previous available-for-sale equity investments as equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

(i) The gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables and the contract
assets under the column “HKAS 39 measurement-Amount” represent
the amounts after adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 but before
the measurement of ECLs. Further details of the adjustments for the
adoption of HKFRS 15 are included in note 3.1(b) to the financial
statements.

Impairment

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Group’s
accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing
HKAS 39's incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected
credit loss “ECL” approach.

The Group records an allowance for ECLs on financial assets which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9, including all loans and
other debt financial assets and contract assets.

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group has applied
the standard’s simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based
on lifetime expected credit losses. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIERMFITEBUBREE 3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
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TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

For all other assets that are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9, the Group assessed for their impairment based on 12-month
expected credit losses: 12-month ECLs are the portion of lifetime
ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected
life of the asset is less than 12 months). However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payment are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 9, certain comparative
information in these consolidated financial statements may not
be comparable as it was prepared in accordance with HKAS 39.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and
it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and
liability account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The disclosures are included in notes 5 and 6 to
the financial statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS
15, the Group has changed the accounting policy with respect to
revenue recognition in note 4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified retrospective
method of adoption. Under this method, the standard can be
applied either to all contracts at the date of initial application or
only to contracts that are not completed at this date. The Group has
elected to apply the standard to contracts that are not completed
as at 1st January, 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15 didn’t
involve an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
as at 1st January, 2018, and the comparative information was not
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 11, HKAS 18
and related interpretations.
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3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

The Group mainly engages in the businesses of gas sales and gas
connection. The effects of the adoption of HKFRS 15 are further
explained as follows:

Accounting for sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas
appliances and related products)

The Group’s contracts with customers for the sale of goods
generally include one performance obligation. The Group
has concluded that revenue from sale of goods should be
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
goods. Therefore, the adoption of HKFRS 15 didn’t have any
impact on the timing of revenue recognition.

Accounting for Gas connection/design and construction
services

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, contract costs were
recognised as an asset provided it was probable that they
would be recovered. Such costs represented an amount
due from customers for contract works and were recorded
as amounts due from customers for contract works in the
statement of financial position before the gas connection
construction services were billed to customers. Upon the
adoption of HKFRS 15, a contract asset is recognised
when the Group performs by transferring gas connection
construction services to customers and the Group’s right
to consideration is conditional, and the cost incurred to
fulfil the gas connection contracts is recognized as an
asset before amortized into cost of sales in line with the
certified progress of the construction services. Accordingly,
the Group reclassified HK$851,394,000 from amounts due
from customers for contract works to contract assets, and
HK$1,405,965,000 from amounts due from customers for
contract works to costs to fulfil contracts with customers
as at 1st January, 2018. And the contract assets and the
costs to fulfil contracts with customers are disclosed under a
separate financial statement line item named “Assets related
to contract works” as at 1st January, 2018.
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3.1 RAFI BB ERELER 3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
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TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

(b) Accounting for Gas connection/design and construction
services (Continued)

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from gas connection customers in
advance as amounts due to customers for contract works.
Under HKFRS 15, the amount is classified as contract
liabilities which is presented as a separate financial statement
line item. Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
reclassified HK$12,808,001,000 from amounts due to
customers for contract works to contract liabilities as at 1st
January, 2018 in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance as at 1st January, 2018.

Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKAS 40 clarify when an entity should transfer
property, including property under construction or development,
into or out of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet,
the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the
change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use.
The amendments have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3.1 RAFI BB ERELER 3.1 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
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TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine the
date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the situation
where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a
foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability.
The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for
the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it)
is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such
as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance of recognising the related item, the entity must determine
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. The interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements as the Group’s accounting policy for the
determination of the exchange rate applied for initial recognition of
non-monetary assets or non-monetary liabilities is consistent with
the guidance provided in the interpretation.
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BE_ZT-N\E+_A=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business®

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Leases'
Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interest in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the directors of
the Company (“Directors”) do not anticipate that the application
of other new and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations will have
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR

109



110

e IR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

#pZ

BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

32 EMMEERERMNE R 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

BmEER () KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)
ERBMBREERE165 [HE HKFRS 16 Leases
FEMBHREENFIRRRKET LS HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
FPER 7R (A E] B8 (BB whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
MBBEREEEY) —REFIAR Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
[ETLHREABRREMEE] &% (& Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
AZ2EBZEg) REFISH[KLE out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
HE-—BE| REE (FAREZE and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
) - REE27W [T R EE and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
BEAZRSH2ANE] - ZERIF T #E recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
RFE2IRBEEEEZRA short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
WERABARKRZHEERREE will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
REME - ZERBFELS THAEAMIE liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
AEEERRE—_KEEEEES asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-
LEBAE N HEERKAH - &HA of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
ABERREEHELHEENRASR depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset
& (BHEERE) MR FHEEE meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates
EZENREE (MEEAEEE) to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
MRIFFEAEEENSTEGTER model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to
BAOTHIREY 2 EHR K HERA B reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
BRI % MBS RRERRIARA payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognise the
BREFERAEEEHEBRKAIR AT interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense
MEREMREEIENE - HEAE on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
EenkREEaEN B MG Nk the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
EHEENFZTMmED - &EABED R change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
BEREESEELMNEH REEAE resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
BEJITERSZ - #BANERSE T payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
EMELFEHNGTEHEAE  HImM remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-
HEMEERAREEZSENR L — of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
TR 5 B ekt R 5 i 5| BUR RAE & (Y unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will
REE - FAA—MEEFTERE continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle
BRZHEABERRBEREEECH as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
B FEPBEREERE165% AY leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
HABRGHENFZI7RALEAZ extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose
BEtEEL A o M AMSEERERR to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
EB S EAE17HRER 2 2B RA retrospective approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1st
HEAHEETHE Iz BK January, 2019. The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions
EHEMMERE BAUBHREE in HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption
BZE165 2R A R HE ABIRE as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1st
BEESHERFITHRIEHESRE - January, 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In addition, the
HRGE AFEBR N RZ R RIRS - BIRI2(E Group plans to apply the new requirements to contracts that were
SHAERFEESILETERFE previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the
e AKEKE T -NF—H—H lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
AEER A BB B S s AE B 1655 - discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date
REBEGEIRMNB BB G 2ER|ZE of initial application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the
1655% 2 B 1R - AR E KRR amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
MRBTZERN _ZE—NF—A—H or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
HRBHENPOERETRAE - A1 statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial
DB ER o Bhoh - AEEEE application. The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by
1% 5% S ¥ 22 S P X 5 B 45 e R /S B the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12
BEESFEAFI7TR 2 BEZS months as of the date of initial application. During 2018, the Group
Al B THENRZBEFERE has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of adoption
BfE  WERAEENGXERBH of HKFRS 16. The Group has estimated that right-of-use assets of
ZIBBEEFRETIR - HEAE HK$512,217,174 and lease liabilities of HK$506,987,283 will be
EESZMEEAESRAE YN recognised at 1st January, 2019 with a corresponding adjustment
SERaREABPIERBRARTD to the opening balance of retained earnings.
TR B AR 2 (M FE 1 sk e AT
HENKEREELFE - REEEE
EHESRPERZENRR T ZH
% AMEMREENE 7 XERBH
RBEH2E AR - RZF—)\F
AEBERIFMFERBRE LR
1657 2 L BE L FF AT E - IBAEE
et RZZT—NF—A—BiE®ER
122171748 L2 RIEBEEE M
506,987,283 T HE B F - W %
REBBFNFERIELABERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income taxes and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill, and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating unit
within group of cash-generating units in which the Group monitors
goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets
of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKAS 39,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate
or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1st January, 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1st January, 2018)
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and related
products)

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial products.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1st January, 2018)
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design and
construction services is recognised over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The input method recognises revenue
based on the proportion of the costs incurred, relative to
the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction

services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1st January, 2018)
(Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1st January, 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1st January, 2018)
(Continued)

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract assets (applicable from 1st January, 2018)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. The
contract assets are disclosed under a separate financial statement
line item named “Assets related to contract works” as at 31st,
December, 2018

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1st January, 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received a consideration
(or an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Contract costs (applicable from 1st January, 2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of the revenue
to which the asset related is recognised. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts (applicable before 1st January, 2018)

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract works. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract works. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commence
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



ETEEHE (B)

HEFARERANBRIBO LR
BF

B RAP AN T RET IHIEEER
EEMAR 2RAKERNNENL
WE D BRAENENFIE  XNE
BORIRTAEE - REGEHE - 38
W R ENEER X INEERET
AR —8 D - EEETIRRAER
EREZBRNBREBEIIE  ETHER
WE - BEERE - BFRAKER
B (AEFEEEEH T ER
EEER T EENNR) FIRITE -

REME

REMEDRREES R, HE AR
EmMHENYE -

BREMETVLRKAN L E - BfEE
MEEEERX - NERERR &
EMETHRR A REIR RETHTE RME
M RFBEBETIM - FTETRMAE
AAFHAREEREGAHRBREERR
B BEM I B YRR T IATER

BREMERFEHERNE HAKATE
EAREHBEEEREEDREE
{A] 4 B M 2 By A4S L E SR o AR AR TERR A%
BEMELANEMKELER (RH
EREEMSHREFREEREEMN
ZREE) RZIA B WK LR
et ABs -

HE-Z-—\Ft+-A=1+—HILFE

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease is
classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. During the construction period, the
amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is included
as part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses and are classified as property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation of buildings commences when they are available for
use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary
for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.
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BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1st January, 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1st
January, 2018)” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income if both of the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling.

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments) (Continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed in
the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair
value change recognised in other comprehensive income is
recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is

determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified
at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, as described above, debt instruments may be designated
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify
at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on
equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for
as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks
are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the
same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair
value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out
of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be
classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1st January, 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable
to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with positive net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or
interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1st January, 2018)” above.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the
host contracts and the host contracts are not held for trading
or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Reassessment only occurs if there is either
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of
a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are
those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or
in response to changes in market conditions.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in other income, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss
is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned
whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are
reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as other income in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable before 1st
January, 2018)” above.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has
the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future
or until maturity.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous
gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment
using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new
amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1st January, 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1st January, 2018)

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1st January, 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1st January, 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



FESHEE (&)
cREERBE(BE=_Z—N\E—A—
REAZESMERELENEIR K
%) (&)

— T %

BHEEBES MEREER - 5 H

Y ERRCRBEEZ L MO EERR
ms @ EEEEEEREFHAAK2
ERARNTREEEZBOSHEMERNE
BEE (12EAEREEESR) - 3t8
N ERALEEREE NN EERR
ME ' TwmAREEAERLD  REBRTE
kAN TEEE BB I8 A RS
BEE (2HEBEEER) -

REZRERH  AEEFGHEHTA
MEERRBVTERLEEHIRER
EIRN - AELRTER  AELLRER
TARREAMERZONEAREZ
%Eﬂli%?ﬂ*ﬁ&%ﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁé%@ﬂ@

W EEBAEE T BERAR
Fﬁﬂﬂ—m’é MEBEREEENE
£ BEBERAEEER -

fid & B 58 BI90K A £ - BIAR &

BERSEMEEEN - AT RET
BERT - AN E RS - £
T RAEE A OEMEBERR
REBTKRAIEBBUREUREES R
R AAEETARRERMEEE
#I e Tnﬂi?ﬁiiéﬁ?ﬁi%@”ﬂl@éﬂfﬂ%m
B HgMESREE -

BATEFAREMEEKE ZBHR
ERREBHEKRAIRZEREE &
—RIET AR HRRE BekE
L/(Tﬁé?ﬁxa;ﬁ/‘*ﬁu SEEHERE

R B AZ ERE SRR
&AHQF (IR T SCARFAL) BRSM o

E=F - \FtZA=t+-BULEE

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant
financing component and lease receivables, the Group chooses
as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1st January, 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that
no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is
no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited
to other expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on
a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery
of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1st January, 2018) (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant”
is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1st January, 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1st January,
2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group'’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative financial
instruments and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1st January, 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable before 1st January,
2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1st January, 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1st
January, 2018)”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1st January, 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability
at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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4. TESEBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1st January, 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable
before 1st January, 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1st January, 2018 and HKAS 39 applicable
before 1st January, 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
As lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held for operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in
the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if
the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the group
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which
is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and are reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates or joint
ventures.

EMRTERERA T

[l
A
N
T
il
i
=4



e ISR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

FESBER (£8)

SN ()

REINGEHBRERME  SEEE
MEERBEBERRERREABERN
ERBESRERANZTEE (B8
7T) > MR ARRAXIAR RRZEEF
BHERRE - FFEARERZ5 (40
B) BEEABBRTITNEM2EEK
PR R N RS RAt -

EEBZNEESECHEZEEE
ﬁﬁ HERXS - SHRRREE
ﬁb%'ﬁﬂ@ﬁ°%%l§ﬁ%%
B HHARTEE Mt B B A R R B
“mm% Si2F o REFAH - %E

ERERAZEMNEAEREMEA
Eﬁ%%%%%%%%'%%i%#
KB 2 IRE SR EEE LA -

RZZZRF—A-BREREEE
SNEETS PR EE AL P E R PTRE AR BB A
ENRTERE  BIEZBINEBH
BENBERE BERAREHRER
MERIBE - PrEEME N ZBNE
RREETRER -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies the
translation procedures applicable to the new functional currency
prospectively from the date of the change. At the date of the
change, the group entity translates all items into the new functional
currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that date and the
resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items are treated
as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in the translation reserve.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash- generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over EEZEMRBIRA A

BSEBRIKER AR is subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &[5
R AR AR]. The Group has the 50% ownership interest since
June 2006 on EGERMAAER AT and the remaining 50% of
equity interest is owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the
Group. Details of these are set out in note 45.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over ESEBMEERAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
EBEBRI AR AE unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in
EBEBRR BB AT The board of directors of EEZEEERR AR
‘A 7] comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4
directors in Ef5ZEMREBR AR and the relevant activities of =
5 IR E B R A A] require over 50% of directors’ approval. After
assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of &5
MR AR AR and therefore the Group has control over E5#
HRRER QA

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Control over ZELFEBMRER L 7, BFEZFHRERLE and 18
JTE BB RA A (the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the Group
has only 50% or 51% ownership interests and voting rights in the
PRC Entities and the remaining equity interests of the PRC Entities
are owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details
of these are set out in note 45.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding in the PRC
Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed memorandums
in which the other shareholders would agree the Group’s decisions
on operating, investing and financing activities of the PRC Entities,
and the other shareholders would agree the appointment of all
senior management of the PRC Entities nominated by the Group.
After assessment, the directors concluded that the Group has
sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities and therefore the Group has control over the
PRC Entities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation.
When the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
different from their estimated useful lives due to the change of
commercial and technological environment, such difference will
impact the depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written
down for future periods.

The carrying amount
at 31st December,
HK$28,608,288,000).

of property, plant and equipment
2018 was HK$30,918,515,000 (2017:

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2018, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$668,860,000 (2017:
HK$677,681,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation

are disclosed in note 20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Revenue recognition of gas connection contract

Construction revenue from gas connection contracts is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service. The input method recognises
revenue based on the proportion of the costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction
services. Accordingly, any changes to the estimated total contract
cost may have material impact on the contract revenue recognised
in each accounting period over the contract term.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2018, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$940,057,000 (2017: HK$595,051,000).
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BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

6. WEkaBEER 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
ARRBERDERDEXEETHAAR Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
AIMITES (X EZBERKRE) S being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
ZER - BERARNEMIIRMEIRE resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
HIFREL o focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.
REERIBEEBY B E®E LR FE8RAY The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:
KESHEMT
(i) %ﬁ% Ko 88 SF B R B K A8 Eﬁ? (i)  Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products - sale of

—HEXARERRLE natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum

£ Pﬁﬁ%%ﬂlﬁﬁﬁmﬂta’ﬁﬁfﬁ ; gas for residential, commercial and industrial use;

(i) MEEE -RBERIAERER (i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipelines networks
ERMAREN under gas connection contracts;

(i) HEMRFE —HEMRFA (iii) Sale of gas appliances - sale of gas appliances and related
RAARAED products;

(iv) RETRERZRRE - BERIE (iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
BIEE MR 2R BREEE consultancy and management for gas connection projects;
K

(v) M| —RRAR MR EE (v) Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

SRR -

REBAEE 22RO R UR/E No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
P - reportable segments of the Group.
DB S D BRI BR B AT & Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
A EBETBEHRERA - FEBA - each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
HeEWA - BBKAK - REDER income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
E FROTBKAREZRTS - HE central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
BEMTARAARNTEZRERES measure reported to the executive directors of the Company in
@E&.ﬁ?fﬁ"*ﬁi’%fﬁﬁ’lﬁ_t the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

Wik o BER ()

SRR HREE  HEEERS
R EOERT

BE-®-NF+-A=+-AL
R

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
assets and segment liabilities is as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

T HE W RFEE Segment revenue and results
HERDH
RERAR HE RitR
HEER REER REEL ERBH MR fit
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TEn TEn Thn Thn TEn TEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
Wz Revenue
MR External sales 35,750,705 9,942,691 337,697 676,404 4,457874 51,165,371
E7 | Results
PEEE Segment results 4,439,350 4,131,634 53,366 102,369 799,950 9,526,669
BEAERREE Share of results of joint ventures 557,324
4N Share of results of associates 249,297
BIEMA Finance costs (459,632)
FARMA Unallocated income 576,270
FARFER Unallocated expenses (2,572,879)
BRART Profit before taxation 7,877,049

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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BE—Z—\Ft+_A=1+—HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

6. WERkSEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z-—-N\NF+=-B=+—HL For the year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)
FE (#)
THEHEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
RERBR #E Rt R
HEER RRER RRHE ERBH JilE=A"S A
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TR TET TET TR TR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
EE ASSETS
PHREE Segment assets 36,686,161 4,343,318 155,602 136,702 1,656,750 42,978,533
REERANER Interests in joint ventures 9,510,144
N NGk 2 Interests in associates 3,438,449
EILHELE Deferred tax assets 265,822
APBEAFEE (fitita)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 17,378,830
73,571,778
8% LIABILITIES
PEEE Segment liabilities 3,843,698 14,011,947 100,713 1,090,049 96,994 19,143,401
[EfTFE Taxation payable 715,910
EIHBAR Deferred tax liabilities 1,228,432
APEAFAE (i)  Unallocated corporate liabilities
(Note b) 20,875,555
41,963,298
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2018 (Continued)

FE (#)
H&# Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 : assets:
HERDH
RERBR HE RitR
HEER  ARER #EEA EREH MR i) &t
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products connection appliances services  stations Unallocated Total
TEn ThRn TEn Thn TEx TEn TEn
HK$’'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$’'000  HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$’000
REFRYEE Additions to non-current assets 6,556,513 - - 6,765 65,034 36,732 6,665,044
WERESH Depreciation and amortisation 1,594,753 - - 1,127 84,433 1,803 1,682,116
BRBEMENZE Release of prepaid lease payments 60,415 - - - - - 60,415
B SR G  (Reversal of impairment loss)/
EBiEER),/ HE impairment loss on trade
BEFE receivables, net (25,237) 60,209 (490) 226 4,625 - 39,333
HitEWEZRE  Impairment loss on other
B3RS receivables, net - - - - - 27,600 27600
HEME BER  Loss on disposal of property,
REER plant and equipment 2,195 - - - - - 2,195
HERNBLAFIESE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease
payments 1,227 - - - - - 1,227

ERMRERERAT —T—\FER



168

REMB|RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—Z—\Ft+_A=1+—HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

6. WERSEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z—tHF+=-B=+—HL For the year ended 31st December, 2017
FE
DEEW R FEE Segment revenue and results
HERDH
FAEMHR #E Rtk
HEER MRS MRBA RS b=k )
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
Tix THx TiHx TR THx T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wz Revenue
hEH External sales 25,532,665 8,927,369 394,560 1,434,070 3,548,933 39,837,597
E7 Results
PREE Segment results 3,035,129 4,005,796 50,321 186,354 624,172 7,901,772
EEASNRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 654,378
BB ENRIEE Share of results of associates 133,047
B A Finance costs (479,103)
RABMBA Unallocated income 498,552
RAERT Unallocated expenses (2,095,262)
BRBEER Profit before taxation 6,613,384
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

WERDEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z—tHF+=-A=+—HL For the year ended 31st December, 2017 (Continued)
FE (&)
THEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
[ERHR HE Rtk
HEER MREE MEBA BRRS k=R At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TiBr TAL Thx TR FiEn TATL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
gE ASSETS
NEBE Segment assets 33,578,867 3,555,009 201,180 777,496 1,756,347 39,868,899
RABRARINER Interests in joint ventures 10,818,388
N NGk 2 Interests in associates 2,027,235
ELFEEE Deferred tax assets 239,961
KPRAFAE (MiFa)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 15,609,321
68,763,804
af LIABILITIES
PEEE Segment liabilities 4,017,057 14,327,499 74,330 1,088,186 282,788 19,789,860
e B Taxation payable 592,670
ELHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,222,212
APEAFAE (i)  Unallocated corporate liabilities
(Note b) 17,989,737
39,594,479

EERRZRERAF

T \FFR

169



170

REMB|RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—Z—\Ft+_A=1+—HIEFE

6. WERIEER (&)

BE_F-—+tHF+-A=1+—-HL

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2017 (Continued)

FE (%)
HE&Ex Other information
AESERFRDBEEMTAZRK Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 : assets:
HERDH
AEMHR #HE BG
HEER MREX MRSRE RS gk Ak ast
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Saleof  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products connection appliances services stations  Unallocated Total
T ThHr T Tir T Tir THr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
REFNBEE Additions to non-current assets 4,846,210 = = 9043 161,241 4801 5,021,295
WERESH Depreciation and amortisation 1,528,109 - - 2911 111,510 3,265 1,645,795
BRAEMENZE Release of prepaid lease payments 82,150 - - - 1,571 - 83,721
FEWEHED (FfE  (Reversal of impairment loss)/
EBiEER),/ HE impairment loss on trade
BEFE receivables, net (40,330) = 511 1,457 = = (38,362)
HftEWEZRE  Impairment loss on other
BEFA receivables, net - - - - 20,721 - 20,721
HENE BER  Loss on disposal of property,
REER plant and equipment 10,757 - - - - - 10,757
Bt Notes:

a. ARORARBERKEHERBMRE
AHEE  REWE  BERATE
FPARMEEKEARARE - AT
HERE - HMAEUK - BEART
R EfF A RBITHEBREE

% o

b. ARAWMAFRABEHEEMEN - B
X RITREGEEAREBESR
B RITREMEERBEREHAA
SENREETER  BOBARD

RARAE -

a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries, investment properties, equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income, available-for-sale
investments, other receivables, pledged bank deposits, other deposits
and bank balances and cash.

b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, bank and other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and
other borrowings and senior notes are classified as unallocated
corporate liabilities because they are managed centrally by the
treasury function of the Group.
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018
WERDEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
bR = Geographical information
FEAEEIERBEE (TEESR Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
TAREREHIEEE) HERBIEE financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented based
EEMmZ7 : on the locations of the assets:
—E-N\E —T—+F
2018 2017
FHER FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
=2} PRC 48,154,121 45,682,633
B Hong Kong 986 1,140
48,155,107 45,683,773
REZMFER » NEBHRAHRFHE The Group’s revenue is arisen in the PRC during both years.
BEE -
WA R Timing of revenue recognition
REFEEEER Goods transferred at a point in time 40,546,276 29,476,158
& e P e PR 7S Services transferred over time 10,619,095 10,361,439
RERF&ERMWALLSE Total revenue from contracts with customers 51,165,371 39,837,597
BREXEEFHNER Information about major customers
REMER - WEREE—INPEF No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
R HHM L AR B E10%3 A £ o amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during
both years.
REEFEEMNBA Revenue from contracts with customers
) DHEURAZE (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
TNRET AR L AR WA The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
©R - EHEERREHYIRA in the current reporting period that were included in the
A HEEITRAOEREMERNE contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period
AafE: and recognised from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods:
—E-N\F
2018
FHER
HK$’000
Fir i R E A Revenue recognised that was included in contract
(BRERBREHUNEREE) liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
MBER Bt REZRS Gas connection/design and construction services 7,495,215

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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RE-F-N\Ft-A=+-ALETE

6. WEkIBEHR (&)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

INFORMATION

(Continued)

RAEFSRANEA (4)

() BHEML (ii)
AMAEEENEEE R
mF -

HER 7 SR EERH R G R dn

BRHRENRRREERTT
NFBERZSEI0H NEIL -

& #9 B (E B8 = AR A rO B2 AH T 2
BET  NRBERTRRER
BEPEXRIY  EHEFPBE
ZALRRI AR o

HEMREA

BHEENRRINIXERFER
17 NFBERIEEH -

Rt RIZRIRE

J& 49 (L8 AR T RO B 414 1 2% 2
BT NRBERERLERRE
FPEXZRES  EHEFPBETEAR
BRI o

V=

BHRERINRRESERETT -
BERATR

BTEOELT (RBETHBOE
77) M2018F12A31H X 5
815 £15,509,555,661/5 7T ° £
MEEBRBENBR T BOETE
TR TR = FHE A
BT °
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion
of installation and customer acceptance, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required.

Sale of gas appliances

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the industrial products and payment is generally due upon
delivery.

Design and construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion
of installation and customer acceptance, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
(unsatisfied or partially satisfied) as at 31st December,
2018 are HK$15,509,555,661. The remaining performance
obligations related to gas connection are expected to be
recognised and satisfied within no more than three years.
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

7. HfiplgA 7. OTHER INCOME
—E-N\F —T—+tF
2018 2017
FTHERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Hi A BE - Other income included:
BImghe (M5E29) Government grants (note 29) 114,927 39,104
RITHFHF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 12,362 39,506
H ATz = F B U A (MiEE) Interest income from other deposits (note) 274,933 183,676
REBEAFEFAREMEE Dividend income from equity investments at
s MR AR B A AR B A fair value through other comprehensive
income 484 _
REGFHRRRZRHBAF A Interest income from deposits placed with a
FRF S A fellow subsidiary 36,883 7,860
LSRG ES NG A Interest income from loan to a fellow
=G GokESEON subsidiary 4,441 22,780
RERETHEZERAR Interest income from loan to an intermediate
BRmF BHA holding company 2,951 =
REAERRHFBUWA Interest income from joint ventures 2,028 2,551
HEAE QAW Gain on disposal of joint ventures 12,936 =
e WA (F%3,175,000/8 7t Rental income (outgoings of HK$3,175,000
(ZZ—+% : 3,601,000 (2017: HK$3,601,000))
BIT)) 28,981 23,904
Mz - R=ZE—N\F+=-A=+—H " KR8 Note: At 31st December, 2018, interest income from other deposits consisted
H At Az KA M SUWRA BIER B IR F of interest income from principal protected deposits and bank
BMIRITEBAARBIHENRA financing products denominated in RMB issued by banks in the PRC.
TFRRBITREERNFBLA -
8. B A 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ATEIEZFE Interests on:
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 168,161 190,203
BARRE Senior notes 277,180 279,358
AR E R YNGIE $ ] Amounts due to joint ventures 9,725 6,788
JEAT R R AR X B RRIA Amounts due to an intermediate holding
company 1,781 -
HthREEE Other long-term liabilities 2,785 2,754
459,632 479,103
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9. FRBLRIEF

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

—E-N\F —ZT—+tF
2018 2017
Bt 5 FTHER FHT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BRAL AT A E Profit before taxation has been arrived
ek (Gt A) ¢ at after charging/(crediting):
BIMA Staff costs
EEME Directors’ emoluments 11 14,691 15,842
EMBET Other staff
— ¥® RALH — Salaries and bonus 2,711,211 2,512,935
— HibEH — Other benefits 799,210 559,729
— RIRFEFIFH B — Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 583,592 509,068
B I A48 Total staff costs 4,108,704 3,597,574
ZE AN S Auditor’s remuneration 11,857 14,738
ME - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 1,626,869 1,563,290
BEPR TR A A FRIE Release of prepaid lease payments 60,415 83,721
KREMEE Depreciation of investment properties 16 1,803 3,265
KSR (BE5tATTE Amortisation of operating rights
%) (included in administrative
expenses) 21 53,444 79,240
TREERBETFE Impairment of financial assets, net
— ERE SRFRE, — Impairment/(reversal) of trade
(fm) Fa8 receivables, net 23 39,333 (38,362)
— EbpEURBRZORIEEEE  — Impairment of other receivables,
net 27,600 20,721
HEMSE - MEKE#EEE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 2,195 10,757
HE BN ELFRIERE Loss on disposal of prepaid lease
payments 1,227 -
TEMERKETLITES  Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises 211,932 171,786
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

10. B8 10. TAXATION
—®-NE —T 7
2018 2017
FBx FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MBS HEE The tax charge comprises:
BNVERTH I8 Current taxation
R TSR PRC Enterprise Income Tax 2,030,151 1,716,831
BEFERBERE Overprovision in prior years (60,810) (39,214)
BT EIZRED DK% K KR Withholding tax paid for distributed
SEBRNEALFHTENG profits and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC 92,530 83,297
2,061,871 1,760,914
EIERTE (F13233) Deferred taxation (note 33) (73,233) (58,397)
1,988,638 1,702,517

FREE BTG TR &S5 FER
0% M 3L B R16.5% (ZF — L4 -
16.5%) it & - AR AR ERBEBLE
BRI B A B R E 4 B A 4 R R
Fm Al - Bt - WERGRE M ERRE
RNETR BB TS BIRAE -

BREBEHEARIMBEEERAETE
(TEEMBHRIED REEMETR
R DB QRN ES
25% HETEEEREZESEES
BRI R -

REVBRBRBERRGEABHE T
MBM (MR- ——FF1%) » 5
BLEERANEREEDIRER -
ZTNEF— A — A A1RE A & A A
HRBMmBEIR - MR % B RBIER
BE A M T 29 Tk 9 BB RIZRAR S 3 75t
EEBGRRF2TIRAR R FAE R
A 116 325% 3 10% ) T 3 4 4 b
EMEH (AT ERERIR) -

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong did not have assessable
profits, accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements for the both
years.

Under the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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BE-T-\F+-A=+—ALHE

10.

BiE ()

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

10. TAXATION (Continued)

FARBETLEGEERREMEE The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

WasE ERBATHAIMSEMT

taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

—E-NF —T—tF
2018 2017
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B 758 A1 g ) Profit before taxation 7,877,049 6,613,384
RERERE25% Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
T4 25%) (2017: 25%)
AHEIA 1,969,262 1,653,346
PSRBT RS/ Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
Uik purposes 253,833 271,652
MR AR ERRBASN Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
B E purposes (52,147) (54,718)
JEEEERNAEENTHIETE Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (139,331) (163,595)
JE(REEZ N RIEENSFE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (62,324) (33,262)
AERRIEEENRGETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 14,408 20,848
B BT RHEROTIIEERE  Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (26,070) (20,951)
BREERKTERNER Income tax at concessionary rates (55,883) (46,502)

AR B E R D K H

Withholding tax for undistributed profits of

B investments in the PRC 52,088 27,801
BEATEIIRED DK EF K& Withholding tax paid for distributed profits and
EBREALFTHENG intergroup restructuring of investments in
the PRC 92,530 83,297
BEFEBERE Overprovision in prior years (60,810) (39,214)
Hh Others 3,082 3,815
FRFHEL H Tax charge for the year 1,988,638 1,702,517

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

1. EERTHEABHMER AR 11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

BeFES AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
'S Directors
BENRENESOMSNT The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
“E-N\F IR tF
2018 2017
#eR #YE RIER R #HTE RINEHN
ik Rt ik 5 BE TS At ik EfpiEh ke HBIE At
Performance  Retirement Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
and other incentive schemes and other incentive schemes
fEL2 Name of directors Fees benefits payments contributions Total Fees benefits payments  contributions Total

TER TR TR TR TR TRT ThT ThR TR TRT
HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKSO000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO0D  HKSO00

#Es Executive directors
TEH (F(a)  Wang Chuandong (Note (a) - - - - - _ _ _ _ _
R (ffzH(b))  Shi Shanbo (Note (o) 63 1,440 3,943 n 5518 70 1,925 3817 78 5890
FEE (Miz(c)  ShiBaofeng (Note (c)) 7 1,098 3,021 102 4,228 - - - _ -
Bl Ge Bin 70 1,500 2,692 99 4,361 70 1,560 3,875 44 5,549
TiF#R (BE(d)  Ong Thiam Kin, Ken

(Note (d) - - - - - 70 1,260 2202 151 3683

FHES Non-executive directors
HXR Du Wenmin

(HsE@R()  (Note (a) and (f)) - - - - - _ B _ B B
BIE (FfsH(a)  Chen Ying (Note (a)) - - - - - _ _ _ B B
TE (M) Wang Yan (Note (a) - - - - - _ B _ _ B
5005 (P13 (a) R(e)) Wei Bin (Note (@) and (e)) - - - - - _ _ _ _ B
BER Wan Suet Fei

(HfiH@)R(g)  (Note (a) and (g)) - - - - - _ _ B B B
St Jing Shiging

(Ffik@)R(g)  (Note (g) and (g)) - - - - - _ _ _ B B

BUEHTES  Independent non-

executive directors
EEh Wong Tak Sing 180 - - - 180 180 = - - 180
T4l (M) Yudian (Note () 45 - - - 45 180 = - - 180
BEI (&) Yang Yuchuan (Note (i) 7 - - - 7 _ _ _ B _
AER Yu Hon To, David 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180
Z4% () Qin Chaokui (Note (i) 105 - - - 105 180 = = - 180

724 4,038 9,656 273 14,691 930 4,745 9,894 213 15,842

EPRRERBRAE T N\FFR 177
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HE-_Z—\E+_A=+—HILEE

M. EERTBREATMERESR
BeEHESE (&)
BE (F)

B E Notes
FHEREE  HXREE BRSRE
T MRELLE TEEE - BEEE
SHELER_TE—NEFR_FT—
tFHMEHER (88) BRAA
A o

(a) (a)

AEBEER_F-NF+—A-+
NBBHERTES °

(b)

FEEEER-_T-NF+—A=+
NARERTES -

(c)

IAMREENR_T—LFNA—BE
EBRTES -

(d)

REEEN—ZT-N\F-ATNHE
EIERITEE -

(e) (e)

() HXREERFAZEER TN
FNAZABEIERTES -

()

BERZEIRFEEFELERN TN
FNA=ZBREERTES -

(9

FalktH—E—NEREA-+=8 (h)

BHEENITES -
iy BENEER-_Z-NENA=H (i)

EIERITEE -

A EPFBAITESNOMS DB H
BREHARFRAEEEEEHIRM
BV ARTS o A EPREEMTTE S R
FRTEENME DT EHEREIE
REABERHRT -

their

were

TBAESENEETRERNZMEF
EREEAME -

Neith
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

The emoluments of Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Du Wenmin, Ms. Wen
Xuefei, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Wang Yan, Mr. Wei Bin and Mr. Jing Shiging

for 2018 and 2017 are borne by China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited.

Mr. Shi Shanbo resigned as executive director on 28th November,

2018.

Mr. Shi Baofeng served as executive director on 28th November, 2018.

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Ken resigned as executive director on 1st

September, 2017.

Mr. Wei Bin resigned as non-executive director on 19th January, 2018.

Mr. Du Wenmin and Mr. Qin Chaokui resigned as non-executive

directors on 3rd August, 2018.

Ms. Wan Suet Fei and Mr. Jing Shiging served as non-executive
directors on 3rd August, 2018.

Ms. Yu Jian resigned as non-executive director on 23rd May, 2018.

Mr. Yang Yuchuan served as non-executive director on 3rd August,
2018.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for

services in connection with the management of the affairs of

the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors shown above

paid for their services as directors of the Company.

er the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any

emoluments in the both years.
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—NE+-—A=+—RItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2017:
two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2017: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Group are as follows:

—E-N\F —E—+F

2018 2017

FBT FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

¥re R EMBER Salaries and other benefits 4,236 4,405
WINITERES Performance related incentive payments 9,790 9,633
RAEFIET B Retirement benefit schemes contributions 213 96
14,239 14,134

b BN FIATHE :

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:
—E-N\F el
2018 2017
EEAH EEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
4,500,0018 7T £5,000,000;% 7cHK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 3 S

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018
12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
2018 2017
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FARRRDIRAIS Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
- N\FFHERE — 2018 interim dividend —
FRRASHEN (ZF—CF - 15 HK cents per share
—E—tFRHRE (2017: 2017 interim dividend —
— B&157810) 15 HK cents per share) 326,741 326,732
—T—FREKRE - 2017 final dividend —
FRR40B (ZF—+4F : 40 HK cents per share
—E—RERBKE (2017: 2016 final dividend —
— ER&307811) 30 HK cents per share) 871,296 653,465
1,198,037 980,197

EERRENEBEE_T—N\F+_A
=+ —RIEFEHRPRETR62E
W(ZZT—tF:4081L)  BEEE
1,350,494,0007% 7t (= & — £ & :
871,296,000/ 7T ) °

13. BREF

FRERBNTIZA TBETE

13.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 62
HK cents (2017: 40 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31st
December, 2018 in an aggregate amount of HK$1,350,494,000
(2017: HK$871,296,000).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
following data:

—E-N\F —T—+t5F

2018 2017

FER FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

BF Earnings:

RAUGTESREARBFNERF Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings
(RRAREEAE ARIRERER])  per share (profit for the year attributable to

owners of the Company) 4,450,101 3,653,994

—E-N\F —T—tF

2018 2017

RHEE :

AT E S RER R
IRETFIEEITRMO BB R
S ELRDET IR A WD

for the purpose of basic earnings per share

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme

2,178,215,487 2,178,215,487

BHAMEFELED ETHEEER
B MW EZ5SREERT

180

No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE #8
HENE R MREE  GAREE RENEEE fAE EEIR it
Plant,
machinery
Leasehold and Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor  Construction
properties  equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles  in progress Total
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
HKS$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
A5E THE GROUP
B COST
RZZ-t5-A-A At 1st January, 2017 3281210 2745002 17,596,843 491,343 323073 659,952 2836342 27933765
B2 Exchange adjusiments 253746 00737 1372410 34,629 2,142 44,804 168700 2,101,168
hE Additions 469,668 242211 2,319,202 21672 34,437 54944 1360894 4503028
ij Disposals (39,099) (97,678) (51,202) (23,631) (3,208) (95,152) (69,028) (378,998)
Eipx Reclassification 217,775 137,066 1,743,682 6,999 9,599 262 (2115403) -
RZE—tFTZA=+—-H  At31stDecember, 2017 4183300 3229338 22980935 531,012 388,043 664,830 2181505 34,158,963
EiAE Exchange adjustments (214,179) (189,118) (1,052,400 (26,937) (10,266) (37,743) (270,651)  (1,801,294)
HE Additions 418770 171,166 588,493 2,718 12,850 60562 4541547 5822106
ik Disposals (36,224) (151,29) (289,877) (22,791) (1,139) (68,971) (37,008) (607,302)
EXiprd Reclassification 411,461 209580 2,470,661 2,39 7,634 - (3101732 -
BERENE Transfer to investment
property (20,739) - - - - - - (20,739)
RZZ—\ET-A=+-H  At31stDecember, 2018 4742389 3260670 24697812 512,398 397,126 618678 3313661 37,551,734
RERWE DEPRECIATION AND
[MPAIRMENT
R=E-t5-A-A At 1st January, 2017 348,686 520,831 2,339,492 227,339 144,060 267,655 26,831 3,874,894
EHAE Exchange adjustments 28,989 44210 197,163 17,576 12,539 18,915 - 319,392
FERE Provided for the year 142,930 278,030 926,522 66,470 69,847 79,491 - 1563290
HERHER Eliminated on disposals (18,714) (67,637) (20,358) (21,693) (3,165) (75,334) - (206,901)
WZE-tFTZA=t-B  At3istDecember, 2017 501,891 77543 3442819 289,692 203,281 290,721 %6831 5550675
B HE Exchange adjustments (43,688) (91,286) (223,466) (18,640) (5817) (24,59) (173) (407,666)
FRERE Provided for the year 167,800 315,004 952,082 60,203 48,152 83,628 - 1,626,869
it R Eliminated on disposals (9,778) (28,683) (25,322) (14,336) (447) (51,376) (334) (130,276)
HERENE Transfer to investment
property (6,383) - - - - - - (6,383)
RZE-\ETZA=+-H  At31st December, 2018 609,842 970469 4,146,113 316,919 265,169 298,383 26324 6633219
BEf CARRYING VALUES
RZE-\ETZA=+—H  At31st December, 2018 4132547 2299201 20,551,699 195,479 131,957 32029 3281337 30918515
WoE—+E+-A=1t-H  At31st December, 2017 3681409 2453904 19,538,116 241,320 164,762 374103 2154674 28,608,268

EHRREZERAERAF



182

REMB|RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=]

BE—Z—\Ft+_A=1+—HIEFE

14.

15.

M - MENRRE ()

L% BERKFHER (EET
BRI AR A E R F AR A
HETRISBERABRETIAFTE

HEME

Leasehold properties

Plant, machinery and equipment
MREE

Gas pipelines

FEMREE

Furniture and fixtures
THEMEEE

Leasehold improvements

e

Motor vehicles

AEBEOHEME BN T E i
Ez@gF -

14. PROPERTY,

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

(Continued)

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25E40F IR B MM (AEIEEH%E)

25 to 40 years or over the relevant lease terms, if shorter

5% 204F

5 to 20 years

20£304F

20 to 30 years

3E12F

3to 12 years

SESFIRABME (UBREEARE)

3 to 5 years or over the relevant lease terms, if shorter

3UE10F
3'/3to 10 years

land in the PRC.

The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on

FES A FRE 15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
=F —E—t5
2018 2017
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

NEENFENHLOKE IR The Group'’s prepaid lease payments comprise
REMEE - of leasehold land situated in the PRC:

ERBEE Non-current assets 1,926,460 1,714,508
mENVEE Current assets 96,583 90,364
2,023,043 1,804,872

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

16. REWE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FAT
HK$'000
2% COST
RZZE—+&—HA—H At 1st January, 2017 60,250
[ 54, A #& Exchange adjustments 4,399
NE Additions 4,801
RZZ2—+F+=A=+—8H At 31st December, 2017 69,450
Rk Exchange adjustments (1,747)
BB AR IEE 1 Transfer from prepaid lease payments 15,993
B - BENKEEE N Transfer from property, plant and equipment 20,739
R-ZE—NE+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 104,435
e DEPRECIATION
RZE—+F—H—H At 1st January, 2017 18,610
& H 32 Exchange adjustments 1,424
FE R Provided for the year 3,265
RZZT—+tF+=-HA=+—H At 31st December, 2017 23,299
[E &, % Exchange adjustments (893)
FIE R Provided for the year 1,803
BIB AL FRIEE 5 Transfer from prepaid lease payments 5,661
BYE¥  BEKZEEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 6,383
R-E—NE+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 36,253
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-E—NFE+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 68,182
RZZ—+tF+=-A=+—8H At 31st December, 2017 46,151
REEFA AL EHAOT 58 AR All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
BMAESWRASIEE NG EA SRR Y2 to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
BB UKAEXFE U2 BEAR using cost model and are classified and accounted for as
BEMENR - TETHRFSGHEEFH investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
ABE SR E IR E W BIBCRETIR © cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the
remaining terms of the leases.
RZBE-NFRZZT—tF+-A= At 31st December, 2018 and 2017, all of the Group’s investment
+—8  AEEMMAEREMENSN properties were situated in the PRC.
A E o

ERMRERERAT —T—\FER
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

17. REE DN RIMRER 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
FET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
IR EE Share of net assets 8,586,843 9,850,593
W EE R Goodwill on acquisition 923,301 967,795
9,510,144 10,818,388

R|ERR - AEENETES

B FE46 ©

=N

reporting period are set out in note 46.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

17. REERRINER (& 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
BEEMEUYFBEANESE QARMNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
FER material

—E-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
AREE FEREF R 2 IR 4258 The Group’s share of profit and total
comprehensive income 315,520 199,640
MREIE BRI 25 Aggregate gas connection income 1,570,632 961,830
AEBRZEEE AT Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
R REAELRE interests in these joint ventures 3,494,997 3,500,933
oy — YA
18. REEE N TN ER 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-N\E —T—+F
2018 2017
FHERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
EhRFEE Share of net assets 3,433,572 2,223,745
WEEENEE Goodwill on acquisition 4,877 3,490
3,438,449 2,227,235
EFHRENRTE () Fair value of listed investments (Note) 2,843,643 4,664,374
fisk : EMRMDH AT EFE (B—RAF Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
BEsr2) HREERTISHTER measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.
& -
RIEHR  AREBOWEEHRE LT Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
FEEEAM 47 o reporting period are set out in note 47.
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18. REE N RIMRER (&)

TEBEARNIBERME

AEENEIRRENTNEENRREE
BROERRR ([EEMR]) RAKHRA
REBBRMDERRDA ([REHRR]) 8
MBEREERINNT

ZEBZERNBINERERERANEE
MEHRP AR -

HE-Z-—\Ft+-A=1+—HILFE

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

Summarised financial information in respect of EE MR EBIHD A
RABI(EEMA") and KEBRREBRO AR A R(“KERR"), the

Group’s material associates, are set out below.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

EERR AR
—E-N\E§ 2 —tF —E-N\F —T—tF
2018 2017 2018 2017
THET FAT THERx FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
MEEE Current assets 3,016,911 3,060,241 1,945,325 -
ERBEE Non-current assets 6,987,696 6,992,734 4,079,912 -
mEEE Current liabilities (2,879,229) (2,663,870) (3,118,058) =
FrBasE Non-current liabilities (2,279,052) (2,460,067) (278,300) -
IR = Non-controlling interests 428,520 437,464 231,252 =
EBRR HREBRR

—E-N\F —E—+F —EB-N\F —E—+F
2018 2017 2018 2017
FTET FHET FTHERT FHT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 6,818,015 6,513,319 5,137,836 -

FREFREE W85  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 396,640 457,581 520,043 =

FAB WK ERABRE Dividends received from the

associate for the year 51,920 47,259 41,087 =

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

18. REFE AR R (&)
FTEBRENANTHEREE (&)
(Continued)

LB R E R R BN AR S B R R
Wﬁﬁwuﬁ’]%%ﬂj%ﬁnmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amounts of the interests in the associates recognised in

N the consolidated financial statements:
EEMRK BERR
—E-N\EF —E—+F —E-N\F —T—tF
2018 2017 2018 2017
FER FHT FEx FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
RPNl AN [ Net assets of the associate
BERE attributable to owners 4,417,806 4,491,574 2,397,627 =
REEREE QAN Proportion of the Group’s
BRI ownership interests in
associates 22.49% 22.49% 36% -
mE Goodwill 3,330 3,490 1,547 -
RUBER A FERFER Effect of fair value adjustments
gE at acquisition 607,432 646,999 130,667 -
REBRELATERE  Carrying amount of the Group’s
BREME interests in associates 1,604,326 1,660,644 995,360 =

FEBERRHEEREEAEEE
PES  HEAKEHEERAR KRR
ftRBRRERMRARER S RIETH
MARE® FEAMKRERIEBNR
i Bl BRERBEEURRRAR
MRUHERBRK A FHBKES -
HFrZE B A NPE -

EEMEAFEERNBHEQXRNA

The material associates are principally engaged in similar activities
as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities as sale
of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction of
gas pipelines networks under gas connection contracts, design,
construction, consultancy and management for gas connection
projects and sale from gas fuel in natural gas filling stations. Their
principal place of business is the PRC.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

TER material

—2-n% et
2018 2017
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

NEFEREEN (EE) & The Group’s share of profit/(loss) and total
2mEE S (EE) B comprehensive Income/(loss) (27,122) 30,137

REBERZERE QT Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
EmrREARE interests in these associates 838,763 566,591
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

19. EERAFEFAHMEME 19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

WEHRARE, A #H VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
ERE INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
—E-N\F —E
2018 2017
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEBEAFESAEMEE  Equity investments designated at fair value
K@ RARE through other comprehensive income
ERAEE - BATFE Listed equity investments, at fair value 5,456 =
IELTRAIZE - ATME  Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 118,149 =
123,605 -
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments
FHRRARE - HAFE Listed equity investments, at fair value - 5,654
FEETRARE - AR Unlisted equity investments, at cost - 61,352
- 67,006
FMR AR E AT HE M I E R A The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
FEFARMEEANE  AAAEE value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
REZERABHIRILE - these investments to be strategic in nature.
REBEE-_ZT—N\F+-_A=+—8H1L During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group received
FE - AEEBERARE RIS dividends in total amount of HK$484,000 from the equity
484,000/ 7T ° investments

EPRRERBRAE —ZT—/\FFR 191
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

#pZ

BE-T-\F+-A=+—ALHE

20.

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

(GRS 20. GOODWILL

T
HK$'000

BREE CARRYING VALUE
RZZT—+tF—H—H At 1st January, 2017 633,286
b H 3R Exchange adjustments 44,395
RZE—+tF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 677,681
nNE Addition 23,238
B i, B Exchange adjustments (82,059)
RZZE—NEF+=ZA=+—H At 31st December, 2018 668,860

BHEBAHABSNEES DS
EHRRERZERAHZREESL
By ([ReELEM]) - HEERE
BHME  EEERSHMBARRE
YHBRCELEMN RBREHAR B
BNREETIZEARBATHER
BIPTEAREE

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash-

generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from that

business combination. The management considers each subsidiary

represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment

testing. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of

goodwill mainly represented goodwill arising from the acquisition

of subsidiaries as follows:

= i Ik

2018 2017

FBT FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

ZNEBRRER AT (HizFa) ZINEBRRERLEF (Note a) 218,208 228,725
RZEEHRRER A A (Fizka) REEBHRRERE L (Note a) 121,133 126,972
EeELERRRAER AR (MFa) LEELEBRIBR2AA (Note a) 117,197 122,846
REZEBHRRER AT (FEb) REZEBHRFAEMR 27 (Note b) 74,616 54,287
ZEERRRER AR (MfiFa) Zi5E MR R BR AT (Note a) 31,063 32,560
HINEBRERMERAF (MiiEa) BINEBRIAMDER AR (Note a) 27,866 29,209
ARZEBRRERAR (KHizka) AEZEBMRIBR AT (Note a) 21,304 22,331
EAth (FizEa) Others (Note a) 57,473 60,751
668,860 677,681

BYEE -

a. ZSHSELEMRB()HEERSH
REME RABRBER : (NMREK
R (i) SHEMRREA -

b. ZREELBURB()HEERSHER
BMHRERESR: (MREX:
(i) SHEMBRRE ¢ R(iv) g -

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; and

(iii) sale of gas appliances.

b. This CGU is engaged in the operating segments of (i) sale and
distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection; (iii)

sale of gas appliances; and (iv) gas stations.
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

20. B& (&) 20. GOODWILL (Continued)

ReEEBMM KOS ETIRER
BEFENEEE - FEERERNE
ERJ[A/FRE  HRELEEBEE
ERANRSRZS - EREDRAA
RRBEBRCEEEMBEENEER
B R R B 09 3R 17 T 5 AT (4 O B Al L
REFTAERER - WRERIZENERT
BFE - EERERKANESHAIZ
BEBPIRFARTSRRECMETE ©

AEERESAEREEFBAARRK
RFE (HERERARMAEREBLH
—MERE) M5L M BTEERE
REeERETER - RIZERFOMETE
RERBS%BREHRT EFERNHEER
ER2% (ZT—tF: BRAFR5%
RFI%EF B0%) R T8 & Hif% HA
MMEERE - BARESELEMNMN
REREMAMEBIRERA7TA% (ZF
—tF:7%)c EFERE - NIkEH
K MEREBHFELELRAEME
RNREEEE EEERE  ZERBR
WEMSEAEESHTSERRSE
SEEUNEAAERAZESELS
R Br e £ 58 -

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 5 years, which is the general development period for the sale
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 5 years and 2% for
the remaining 7 years (2017: 5% for the first 5 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast
cash flows for the CGUs is 7.1% (2017: 7%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation
is identified at the end of the reporting period. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

21, KR

21. OPERATING RIGHTS

T

HK$'000
2% COST
R=ZZT—+tF—HA—H At 1st January, 2017 1,459,432
Ve 7, S Exchange adjustments 102,547
NE Additions 6,471
R_E—+F+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 1,568,450
FEE i, B Exchange adjustments (80,498)
NE Additions 51, 919
R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 1,589,871
o AMORTISATION
RZZT—+F—HA—H At 1st January, 2017 212,593
PE H A% Exchange adjustments 17,804
FERME Provided for the year 79,240
RZE—+tF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 309,637
bE W A% Exchange adjustments (7,216)
FERE Provided for the year 53,444
RZE—N\F+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 355,865
BRMEE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE—N\F+—_A=1+—H At 31st December, 2018 1,234,006
RZE—+HF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2017 1,258,813

W E B WA ERTIABERER
EFT R A FH10=50F A sH -

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over

the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-

line basis.

22. 78 22. INVENTORIES
—E-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEME Construction materials 740,647 384,162
SR Finished goods 199,410 210,889
940,057 595,051

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-N\F —ET—+tF

2018 2017

FERT FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEYE 5 AR Trade receivables 4,374,971 4,497 377

VeI Impairment (196,970) (163,251)

4,178,001 4,334,126

el A & A RFE (fizta)  Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 430,443 424,784

JEU R4 N TI3RIE (Mi3Eb)  Amounts due from associates (Note b) 48,494 =

FEUTIEFE IR AR B 508 (FitsTb) Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders (Note b) 18,750 267,236

FEUR R 2B B A F I8 (MfsEe) Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note c) 1,216,695 =
JFE U PR AR A R FRIE Amounts due from an intermediate holding

(Bt #Ed) company (Note d) 573,610 =

3 (Kiste) Deposits (Note e) 1,638,844 1,491,478

FERTFRIE (HiFEf) Prepayments (Note f) 2,228,047 2,240,202

E b pEUGR (MaEg) Other receivables (Note g) 700,069 745,285

WEREE (Mig) Impairment allowance (Note g) (68,155) (40,555)

10,964,798 9,462,556

BsE Notes:

a. [ fE U & & A 5] 50 1E53,264,0007% 7T a. Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$53,264,000
(Z=F—+F :51,246,0008 7T) B (2017: HK$51,246,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
AR - RN T3.92E £4.28F (= ranging from 3.92% to 4.28% (2017: 3.92% to 4.35%) per annum and
T—+t4F :3.92FE4.35F) TEH repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
FEFEFNERGERER—FNEE interest-free and repayable on demand.

N BT AR REIER - 2R RER
EREEE -

b.  FEUREE A R R I AR AR R FRIE A A b.  Amounts due from associates and non-controlling shareholders are
B - 2B RAREKFER - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

c. BREWKRRMWMB R A KIHE c.  Except for the amounts due from a fellow subsidiary of HK$917,494,000
917,494,000/ T & EEH - LFF which are unsecured, bear interest of 4.79% per annum and repayable
KATIEF B RAR—FANERIN within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured, interest-free
MR ERAEER - REREREXR and repayable on demand.

BREE -

d.  EWAHREERA R RIEIEF K435 d.  Amounts due from an intermediate holding company bear interest of
EFt B REAR—FRERE - 4.35% per annum and repayable within one year.

e. ReFEZEEIMNTRREEENIE e.  Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental deposits
& HERSEHAELES - and deposits of taxes.

f. FENFRIBEZERIEEE RERE R f. Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel and
FAE MM FERK - related goods.

g BRREDPRETAEETKNAEEE g.  Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables

WEIARS A RSN E T EMmER
HeEtERRERERESN - BiEL 8 ML
FRASRAEE BRI A K R A A E At
FEYTRETH R E B -

with indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk have not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

EERRERERAT —T—/\EEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

23. B E 5 R K H A EUR 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(#&
TEEBGTEEFPHEER - AR30 The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
REIOK - EHMBREIERENEKE days to its customers. The ageing analysis of trade receivables,
SEFNRERARENEZAH (M net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice date at
ERZSWRABEREH) NERSITE the end of the reporting period, which approximated the respective
AT - revenue recognition date as follows:
=F TYIE: —T—t%
2018 2017
FHER FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
0-90X 0-90 days 3,561,184 3,667,867
91-180K 91-180 days 297,942 398,809
181-365K 181-365 days 210,670 221,793
365K A Over 365 days 108,205 45,657
4,178,001 4,334,126
ERE ZEFNRESEREZDH The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
HEA receivables are as follows:
—E-N\E —T—+F
2018 2017
FHBT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
REF] At beginning of year 163,251 190,381
FRNE B R EZER Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9
FORMEE - -
REY (LEF)) At beginning of year (restated) 163,251 190,381
BE K AR Exchange adjustments (5,614) 11,232
REEE (B#) B8 Impairment losses/(reversals), net 39,333 (38,362)
RER At end of year 196,970 163,251
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

23. BWE Z R K H i UK 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(&

ERMBHEENBORATHE-T
—NE+=ASt+—BLFERRE
B 84 B RS PR B R B R 1T
EHH - A EEBEEEE - BB
% RN AR E A AR RN S
BEFHBETHE (DEHE  E
RER - BEENRFRUREHE
REMFAEERBOBERESDS)
Tt B G & o 3 EH B R S
MR EEHERAESEH
ARIERBATIR 8 RERE
RS AR R AT AR -
BE - HERE SRR —
BRERHNTEDHARR - AT
s -

TR ERAAEEERE HRTE
REEEENEERRNER

R-F-NFf+ZA=+—FH

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31st December,
2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical
region, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject
to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31st December, 2018

0-90% 91-180k 181-365Kk 365K L wet
0-90 91 - 180 181 - 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEAEEBEE(%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 0.93 1.50 63.83 4.50
MERHEE (FHT) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 3,561,184 300,739 213,880 299,168 4,374,971

FEHR{EEE18 (T8 L) Expected credit losses

(HK$°000)

- 2,797 3,210 190,963 196,970

[l
A
N
=
N
i
i
59d
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HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

23. BWE 5 R K H i UK 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(&)

BRI EAEIRETBE_S—
tHF+ A=+ —-RILFENRE

R-Z—+tE+-_A=1+—08 " B&
EB ST ERIEIE M EFRIKHER
WRIERBENEKE SRR KRS
MaT :

RoZE—+FE+-A=+—HHEYK
BSERBIERHE A RSB0 ER
A5 77666,259,000/8 70 (= Z — /X F -
717,265,000/ 7T) - AREB ARG
AR BmERES - FittZzEHE
WRERIERE - BEEETZEHER
BETERENERERAEEER
RIFEEBERDEHE - REBITERZ
LR TS A AR

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31st December,
2017

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31st December,
2017 that are were not individually nor collectively considered to
be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows:

Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2017 are
receivables of HK$666,259,000 (2016: HK$717,265,000) which are
past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
of the debtors. The directors determined that such receivables
neither past due nor impaired are of good credit quality with no
history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables.

=F %
2017
FET
HK$'000

91-180K 91 - 180 days 398,809
181-365K 181 — 365 days 221,793
365K £ Over 365 days 45,657

666,259

RETERUERNZ D AT Bl f - AR&E
B EEEANERRAREER]
REAMNERTEEAME - i
RAEEBEERERF  MEEELES
TREEAR - Bt - AATEERR
KBS A MWk T H AR
B BMASITIEREERE -

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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ERIEHEBEE 24. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

—g-N\f —z )\
+=—BA=+—H —A—H
31st December, 1st January,
2018 2018
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000

EREERE : Contract assets arising from:
RREEBOEE) Gas connection activities 868,221 851,394
BITEF & R Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 1,757,339 1,405,965
2,625,560 2,257,359

AREEVIRERRBHEEM IR
HE B R BUE B PR ER A Wi 2
1t 75 i P U ER A (B 28 DA R B SE R AR R
R - FFARERBHNERAEER
BRERES  ETKERREPE
Wit HRREREENSEIDER
DERERESERER - R_T—N\F
BREERIBINT AR FRE /KA
BERUREIE AR - AREEE P
R B GF JAZ BT B 7% R MY
FL23HFE -

RBERARBNETEFE A RAK
N85 %4,080,584,000/8 7T °

BE_T-/\F+-_HA=+—8"
Hé@ﬁﬁﬁaﬂ&@%%%ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬂ? :

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from
the sale of goods and the provision of related gas connection
activities as the receipt of consideration is conditional on
successful completion of construction. Included in contract
assets for construction services are retention receivables. Upon
completion of construction and acceptance by the customer, the
amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade
receivables. The increase in contract assets in 2018 was the result
of the increase in the provision of gas connection activities at the
end of the year. The Group’s trading terms and credit policy with
customers are disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The amortisation of costs to fulfil contracts with customers
recognised in the reporting period is HK$4,080,584,000.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets
as at 31st December, 2018 is as follows:

FHERT

HK$’000

—FR Within one year 868,221
2IRFRITER 25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

R-ZB—NE+-A=1+—8 " 77
FRERBIEAENRAREREEN
ENESERNER - SEPERITE
RTBUAARBE - BEMBFREX
0.35E2 F4.80E (- ZF —+4:0.35
[EZE4.80F) 5t 8 °

At 31st December, 2018, bank deposits are pledged as security
for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas. The pledged bank
deposits are denominated in RMB and carry interest at market rates
ranging from 0.35% to 4.80% (2017: 0.35% to 4.80%) per annum.
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P
26. RITERKREE

BITBBETBFNESEE (=F
— £ BEOE) i 8 -

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0%
to 3% (2017: 0% to 3%) per annum.

27. ERESZRIAREMESRK 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-N\EF —T—+tF
2018 2017
FBT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
JERTE S RN Trade payables 6,319,847 6,618,690
&% AR5KE (Kiita) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 352,083 582,310
FEfTBE AT ZIE (MizEb)  Amounts due to associates (Note b) 43,957 =
FEFEFEIR AR B 208 (BiisFc) Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
(Note c) 230,926 290,114
JE S AP R AR A B) FR0E Amounts due to an intermediate holding
(Ft=Ed) company (Note d) 3,501,781 -
FEU K Receipts in advance 4,005,822 2,963,062
Bz Deposits received 417,624 416,341
U B s & wE e A 3508 (Ff3E32) Payables for acquisition of operating rights
(note 32) 25,679 27,289
FEEFE TR A Accrued staff costs 1,265,887 1,059,004
H iR ERE Other payables and accruals 2,321,945 1,284,898
18,485,551 13,241,708

Notes

a. BRERA %A FHKIE349,320,0005%5 a.
7T (ZZ—+ 4 : 460,398,000/ 7T)
BEEE - K115EF1.65E (=%
—tF 1152 E1.65E) WZH
FRRAERBR —FEREEN 8
THRHEAERA - 8 RANE K

B -

b. ENBERRFRAEER RER b.
AN ERIGEE -

c. ENFERERREREEN 28 &
RANBREEE o

d. Bt R EEAR KA d.
3,500,000,00078 7T (= & — £ F :
T) ARIERRAREANEE
BB BT 7 247 8 % (HIBOR) 105
HOGE (ZF—LF : B) 58 -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$349,420,000
(2017: HK$460,398,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2017: 1.15% to 1.65%) per annum and
repayable within one year, the remaining balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

The amounts due to an intermediate holding company of
HK$3,500,000,000 (2017: nil) are unsecured and repayable within
9 months, bear an interest of Hong Kong InterBank Offered Rate
(HIBOR) plus 0.6% (2017: nil) per annum.
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27. ERE SRR R HEMES 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

(%)
ERESERERNBEHARENES The ageing analysis of trade payables is presented based on
HRRRIMEFNT - invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
S —T—t5
2018 2017
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
0-90K 0 - 90 days 4,338,115 4,395,132
91-180K 91 - 180 days 596,434 613,272
181-365~ 181 — 365 days 786,497 812,793
365K £ Over 365 days 598,801 797,493
6,319,847 6,618,690
BENTHEEHATAEIS0K - & The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
SECHIEM R E R - LA to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
RIEBEEBAE B place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.
28. ERIEE 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
S s e
2018 2017
FHT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
aREaRE Contract liabilities 12,342,544 _
RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—BR=Z Details of contract liabilities as at 31st December, 2018 and 1st
—N\F—-—HA—HNERAEMNFEN January, 2018 are as follows:
T
S —TN\f
+=A=+-8 —A—H
31st December, 1st January,
2018 2018
FHT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
SRS @b SELNEINEA Short-term advances received from customers
MREEES Gas connection activities 12,342,544 12,808,001
ERAESEARERREREDM Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to provide
WHIMNEEENR - RZZE—N\F4 gas connection activities. The decrease in contract liabilities in
BAEENRL T EEHRFREEH 2018 was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances
RERFERZHNE P AKEIHE received from customers in relation to the provision of gas
BRTERT FOR D BT < connection activities at the end of the year

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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29. BfFfBh & 29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS
RZZF—N\F+_A=+—8" ' BN At 31st December, 2018, government grants of HK$292,363,000
# B) £292,363,000/% T (=& — & (2017: HK$203,811,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
% : 203,811,000/ 7T) £ E 7 B PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
NEBRERRHNER - AERIE acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction
ME BELRIKEUAREZNRAEE of gas pipelines.

RHEES -

30. MITRHEMEBE 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
—E-N\F T —+F
2018 2017
FET FHT
HK$000 HK$000
IRITE R — &K Bank loans — unsecured 2,879,931 5,576,792
RITER — A Bank loans - secured 4,129 =
HAE R — MK Other loans -unsecured 2,283 2,393
2,886,343 5,579,185

NEFEWRITREMEESZZA  The Group’s bank and other borrowings are

RUATEAR B8 repayable*:
—FR Within one year 2,634,961 5,327,669
ZR—FETBAME More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 8,983 8,673
ZHRMERTBBAF More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 31,078 26,018
ZRAF More than five years 211,321 216,825
2,886,343 5,579,185
B RBAGAIRNR—FA  Less: Amount due within one year shown
FI|HAEY RRIE under current liabilities** (2,634,961) (5,327,669)
FERBEEBERRR—FRE Amount due after one year shown as
Z|HIEY IR non-current liabilities 251,382 251,516
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30. BITRHEMEE (&) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
* FEARIEDIRBER BB AMEHOE . The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in
EEREHEEE ° the loan agreements.
* RZIZE-NE+ZRA=t+—H R ** As at 31st December, 2018, included in bank and other borrowings
17 % H fth & 52,634,961,0007% 7T & of HK$2,634,961,000 is an amount of HK$2,610,000,000 that was
AR B —%2,610,000,0007% JT 79 3 repayable within one year pursuant to scheduled repayment dates
H - BEERBRANENE EER set out in the loan agreements but contained a repayable on demand
BHEAR—FNEE BEREXRHZ clause.
EHEARERFFERBOGEK
#R1TRE & 114,129,000 7T F7 L EX¥E The banking facility of HK$114,129,000 is pledged by the proceeds
REFSREBEERE - BERBRER from the charging fee. The loan balance is HK$4,129,000, and such
4,129,000/ 7T + M R 1T AL & R 58 bank facility balance is HK$110,000,000.
£110,000,000/% 7T °
RZFE—tF BROTREMEE As at 2017, included in bank and other borrowings of HK$5,327,669,000
5,327,669,0008 ;L& F B — £ is an amount of HK$3,940,000,000 that was repayable within one year
3,940,000,000/8 TTH 7R 1B © IRIEE pursuant to scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements
RpFEAMEONE EERAHER— but contained a repayable on demand clause.
FAMEE BREFBEREENE
SKIRF BB BV I6K ©
REB R RTT R E A S E B B FF The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
ENTHF0.65EE523E (=T — borrowings range from 0.65% to 5.23% (31st December, 2017: 0.65%
+&+=-A=+—H :0.65EZ%7.04 to 7.04%) per annum.
E) -
NEBNRITREMEENIERGES Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
N set out below:
BRRFF = —E-N\F —T—+tF
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2018 2017
FHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEMEE Fixed rate borrowings:
BEPARKRITER Secured RMB bank loans 5.225% 4,129 =
wmEHEAE ([BE]) Unsecured Japanese Yen
RITER (“JPY”) bank loan 0.65% 256,235 264,622
TEEEEEEE Total fixed rate borrowings 260,364 264,622
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
EIKIAAREIEITER - 8 Unsecured RMB bank loans
BEMPEARRITER at margin plus People’s
S\ Bank of China Base Rate 4.57% 13,696 22,170
FEERABTRITER - EE
EZMEBARTEZERSER  Unsecured HKS$ bank loans
A at margin plus HIBOR 1.38% — 2.98% 2,610,000 5,290,000
ERMAREEMER - %  Unsecured RMB other loan
BEERPEARBITER at margin minus People’s
FEETE Bank of China Base Rate 3.98% 2,283 2,393
FREERRE Total floating rate borrowings 2,625,979 5,314,563
ENEELE Total borrowings 2,886,343 5,579,185

EHRREZERAERAF
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3. BRREE 31. SENIOR NOTES

RIE——FMNARA  KRRAFIKE
BHEEI7.95%H BEEEHITALE
/750,000,000 T ([ 7Tl) (A8 &
#5,818,890,0007% 7T) (& 5t 2 &
([BEAFER] - BERBIEZEEEXT
FA5EFE WRAEFBEFLN
—R YR =T =Z—FMAMAZ
H BARRABIEWN  WIRERF
FEA4BEFE - REEZT—NF+
ZA=+—HILFE  BEENBRH
F 25 A277,180,0008 T (= F—
+ 4 : 279,358,000/ 7T) °

BEZEBRINEZLFRSMER
ARl Em - BEZEBERBEHR
MRAFEZRE—RLAFEFEA
H) & i A766,395,000% T (48
% 76,003,103,0007% t) (= & —
+ 4 :788,828,0005% T (#H & R
6,152,855,0007% 7t)) * Jy ik H K
T {EEE -

AREE R E ZE 23 A A R
BREXZEASENI100%I0EFT
RARMME - BEWMIEBLOBEEAAE
BERR -

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with a
principal amount of United States dollars (“US$”) 750,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95% of
the face value of the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes
bear coupon interest at 4.5% per annum payable semi-annually
in arrears and are due on 4th April, 2022. The Senior Notes are
unsecured and carry effective interest rate of 4.8% per annum.
Interest expenses of HK$277,180,000 (2017: HK$279,358,000)
were charged to profit or loss during the year ended 31st
December, 2018.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at the end of the
reporting period, which was measured at fair value on Level 1 fair
value measurement, was estimated at US$766,395,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,003,103,000) (2017: US$788,828,000 (equivalent to
HK$6,152,855,000)), which was determined based on the closing
market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued and
unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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32. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline network, and are
payable as follows:

—E-NF —T—tF
2018 2017
FER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 25,679 27,289
ZR—FETBBRE More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 6,020 4,560
ZHRMEETBBRF More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 42,279 34,885
ZRAF More than five years 140,348 119,913
214,326 186,647
o REIBEFRET AERE  Less: Amount due within one year included
2 8RR E M RS A in trade and other payables shown
—FREIEAR A under current liabilities (25,679) (27,289)
FRBEEMRN—FE Amount due after one year shown as
FI| BA R FRIE non-current liabilities 188,647 159,358

ZEREDERNBRBESRETE - T
FEANFERDIERETHEN T102
50FMERFFEINBE (ZF—+
F :3.95E) °

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 3.95% (2017: 3.95%) per annum for terms
ranging from 10 to 50 years.

EEMRRERERAT —F
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33. IEAEBLH

NTRAFERAEFETRCER
ERERIREE () REZH :

33. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
AOEEN
MEHERE - MEMS HeEREE A&t
Withholding
Accelerated tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary
depreciation rights profits differences Total
TR FHT THT TR TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-Z—+&—F—H At 1st January, 2017 (379,152) (161,881) (623,500) 169,688 (994,845)
X% Exchange adjustments (26,370) (11,265) (18,953) 10,785 (45,803)
FREE (MzE10)  Credit for the year (note 10) 5,732 2,273 (27,801) 78,193 58,397
R-T—+& At 31st December, 2017
+-A=t+-H (399,790) (170,873) (670,254) 258,666 (982,251)
B AR Exchange adjustments (21,993) (9,400) (36,871) 14,672 (53,592)
FEE (MisE10)  Credit for the year (note 10) 4,222 861 52,088 16,062 73,233
R-E—N\&E At 31st December, 2018
+-A=1+—H (417,561) (179,412) (655,037) 289,400 (962,610)
BEBARE NHDFTAT Analysed for reporting purposes as:
=E-NF —T—+tF
2018 2017
FHER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRI E = Deferred tax assets 265,822 239,961
EETIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (1,228,432) (1,222,212)
(962,610) (982,251)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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R-TB—N\E+-_A=1+—8 K&
B & K &) A 7 78 &5 18465,097,000/%5
JT (= ZF — £ 4 : 498,755,000/ JT)
AT 88 R SR Fl o B A R AR g ) SRR
BT MYERBBEBEERE
IERIAE EE - R TE E51869,551,000
BT (ZT—+1%F : 69,551,000/ 7T)
AIEEMR AN AT EIEAS B A
FEBAFANRE -

RZE—NEFE+=A=+—8"
HEABERETEHBEEONE
RARDEEFEENLEREZHEL
4,968,513,000/% T (= & — £ F :
3,183,220,000/% 7T.) ° B3 A A5 [ B
T TR E AN REHARSEES
R B SR AT Be N [ 48 - B S L
ZEEZRWERABE -
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2018, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$465,097,000 (2017: HK$498,755,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2017:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
remaining losses will expire within 5 years from the year of
origination.

At 31st December, 2018, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$4,968,513,000 (2017: HK$3,183,220,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

34. R 34. SHARE CAPITAL
RHEE ROEE
Nominal
Number value
of shares of shares
FHET
HK$'000
FHXEEO0.10/8 TR A 17 Shares of HK$0.10 each
JEERAR Authorised:
RZT—+tF—H—H At 1st January, 2017, 31st December,
—ET—+tF+-_A=1+—H 2017 and 31st December, 2018
r=ZF—-—)\F+=-—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETREAR Issued and fully paid:
RZE—t&—H—H" At 1st January, 2017, 31st December,
—E—+FEt+-A=t+—BK 2017 and 31st December, 2018
- N\F+=-—HA=+—H 2,224,012,871 222,401

RRFEPEE - B 81T B BRAR
M85 FE O AR A (e B o

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued and

fully paid share capital during the both years.
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35. REAEEEE 35. LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

RZZBZENF+ZA—RB  ARAEK
R B 3R 2 RENET &) (22 R AT
2 FABRBEILSEE THRE -
NERAREERFHELERER -

RIFERE S ARFEBBRMDA& B
EFEAMNBAEBEMEARNBR ST
SRE  YAEETARBEEES
5 EERDBERNEERER/L -
i 51 8175 2R P AT L PR ) 1 A 4 42
AR QRN SRM A B #HT
PR 25% + B S B3 H R &) 14 AR
- RERBAZ TR THERED
BRI DN RAEE NMERBBAR
BB B BITRA20.5% °

RZFB—FF=ZFA XA ARAH
HEEEEHER - BRARSMAR
PR IR 0 1F R 52 E) - AR BMRIRER
BF SRR REE  SHALE
B R FEAR B BR B 1 A7 B PR IS AR
H o

RBEE-ZT—R"F+-A=+—AH1t
FE - ZFEAUFHETR23.087E 7T
6] T 35 H %2,266,000/% B 1) o H &
ZE IR0 /AT 18 5118 552,302,000
TC e FTSRIBE M AERERET
EEREEMNRSEE  BEZER
FEBEEREMEEKRERERAHA
X EBBEE-_ZT—XRFt+=-A=+
—HIEFENEERF) o RIMHA A
FIT 18 5K 38 2 FE H) 2= 544,095,000 7T
SARBEF - RBEE-T—+HFR
- N\FF+-_A=+—HLFE "
R A TS SRR

R AR RS B RIE H545,797,384%
&y (ZZ — £ 4F : 45,797,3845% &

) -

BEREEZBAIANSERERRD
PR I MERR 1

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market out
of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
selected employees until such shares are vested with the selected
employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the aggregate
number of restricted shares awarded throughout the duration of
the scheme to be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed
0.5% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average price
of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of those shares
amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount of the proceeds
was awarded in cash to certain directors and employees of the
Group, with an equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
employee benefits during the year ended 31st December, 2016.
The difference of HK$44,095,000 between the cost of the shares
and the proceeds was credited to retained profits. No disposal
of shares by the trustee to the market was noted during the year
ended 31st December, 2017 and 2018.

There are 45,797,384 (2017: 45,797,384) shares held by the trustee
at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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YRR TR A FE RV 23K -

HEl
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. Employees who were members of the
ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the Group on
or after 1st December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
each person to the scheme, which contribution is matched by the
employees.

At 31st December, 2018 and 2017, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years was insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

37. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases which fall due as follows:

—2-N\%F —E—tF

2018 2017

FBT FHT

HK$°000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 150,433 62,248
FFEFERF

(BIEEEMEENR) In the second to fifth year inclusive 281,820 117,168

FF% After five years 151,896 80,835

584,149 260,251

REBONKIDEAREREE T #
RERBEVENEMSHES - HOTD
mERmBE HeERFH-ER+F
(Z2—tF: —ER+F)EE -

N

KREBE[HBEA

RI|BERR - NEBEABABR L
TNEHHAEELN - BRAENH
REEZOIEEDT

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group

for certain of its office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated
and rentals are fixed for terms ranging from one to fifty years (2017:

one to fifty years).

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with

lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—2-N\% i

2018 2017

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 8,920 9,917
F_FEERF

(BREEEMELEA) In the second to fifth year inclusive 28,963 28,439

hFE After five years 3,744 1,756

41,627 40,112

FHNERLEREVERRBREP
AV—Z2+FH(CT—tF: —=
THEH) B - BES b S
WL PR AEE LB -

The investment properties and equipment rented during the year
have committed tenants for terms ranging from one to ten years
(2017: one to ten years). No contingent rent was arranged for the
above operating lease arrangements.
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e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

38. A 38. COMMITMENTS
—E-N\F —T—+tF
2018 2017
FERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BATSEETHNERR Capital expenditure contracted for but not
AEBF B RERPEEN provided in the Group’s financial statements
BEARRY in respect of:
EEME - WE&EE TR Acquisition of property, plant and
HERE equipment/prepaid lease payments 88,526 175,230
& (M) Investments (Note) 164,346 _
252,872 175,230
Mg AREBEEBE=FEI LA T Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
AERBIKE FRPINEGERE - parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in the
PRC.
39. EEEHA 39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RZZB—-N\F+ZA=+—H & At 31st December, 2018, the Group pledged the following assets
EERERTINEEERENTRAR as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas:
HER AR E S EROER
—E-N\F —E—tF
2018 2017
FERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEPIRI TR Pledged bank deposits 7,550 11,753
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40. BEALTHE 40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
HEEALHNRS &6 Transactions/balances with related parties
BRABRAMISEPTE I BAEA TR SN - In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
REERFANEBEATETIIE notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions
RS : with related parties during the year:

—E-N\EF —ZF—+tF
2018 2017
B 3E FERT FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B E N RIS Transactions with associates
HEEM Sales of goods a 176,761 22,300
BEEM Purchase of goods b 74,316 =
e Rental expenses c 3,152 =
HAZSNANR S Transactions with joint ventures
HEEm Sales of goods a 174,853 166,871
BEEM Purchase of goods b 50,973 16,815
FLBWA Interest income 2,028 2,551
FEMXZ Interest expenses 9,725 11,981
itk Rental expenses C - 4,592
BEAENT Disposal of a joint venture f 291,474 =
B[R R B A RIARZ 5 Transactions with fellow subsidiaries
HFERFBWA Interest income from deposits d 36,883 7,860
BERFERA Interest income from loan 4,441 22,780
HEMX Rental expenses © 12,829 10,496

ERIERR AR ER )X 5 Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders

HEEm Sales of goods a 179,468 149,693
BEEM Purchase of goods b 828,407 599,773
BEME Purchase of properties e 374,411 _
e Rental expenses ® 334 450
ER AR SR A% A AIHY A 5 Transactions with intermediate
holding companies
F B A Interest income 2,951 _
BB Interest expenses 1,781 _
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40. BAEATIRE (2) 40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

EHEAEALTHRE ek ()
B EE -

a. [MBERR - AERERIFERER
EITNHERBAAKEEIZEPR
HEE B ER RIS

b. MEZEAR  &EQARIFERERR
EITNEEREREQR - AEAQTF]
FOFERERAETZRFRENE
BB RIEIHES -

c. XNTHMERTR  &ERQAF - FARM
B2 B R SF AR A S R TR
BHSHESED -

d RIZT-—N\F+ZA=+—0 %K%
BERARRRRKBARKEEBHER
TR BRARFARITREMTR
1,690,835,000/8 T (=T —+ & :
1,656,141,000/87T) * ZFRITIF R
ATARITEBRRIRS ©

e. RZZ—N\FA+MA - EITEH
WS A R A R 11374,411,000% 7T
RBEIHTESEXSEARARE
BETWE -

f. M2018%F7H230 » A& B H & —
MAEEQR (AREZEBEKRIER
AR FRYIEKREZDABRA
RAI(—HRRMBAR) REA
291,474,000/ 7T °

AEE B & AT EBUFES &+ B
HETBRAEERARN - mA
5B B AT AR BB S] - SR
HRENBEATZENHNERRENE

BRI -

BRESARALEMBEAFTNRS (B
RER A B IR a0 B o B SE R B
S+ AN SR [ I rP B IR B R Sk R
ZH - KRZEHRENERNZE N
EREAEEBBIETETESR
BERBARITERRAAENB YK
A BETRITREMEEIARIEREE
TSRO - RED D $R B8 e B0 0 WA SR8
& ARAEERAEZFRFEH
ERETRS BREEEHEZE
WARE T 5 ERAETT - ZEE I
EHEBRE - Mz TR EE
HFTREBFHEAER

o

Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes:

a. The sales to the associates, the joint ventures and the non-controlling
shareholders were made according to the published prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

b. The purchases from the associates, the joint ventures and the non-
controlling shareholders were made according to the published prices
and conditions offered by the associates, the joint ventures and the
non-controlling to their major customers.

©. The rental expenses to the associates, the joint ventures, the fellow
subsidiaries and the non-controlling shareholders were made
according to the market rents.

d. At 31st December, 2018, the Group placed bank and other deposits
of HK$1,690,835,000 (2017: HK$1,656,141,000) with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the Company, and
these deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

e. At 14th June, 2018, Zhenjiang China Resources Gas Corporation Ltd
purchased properties from Zhenjiang City Construction Industry Group
Corporation Ltd with consideration of HK$374,411,000.

f. At 23rd July, 2018, the group sold a joint venture namely Dalian CR
Gas Co., Limited to Shenzhen Runcheng Investment Consulting Co.,
Limited (a fellow subsidiary) with consideration of HK$291,474,000.

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRCL
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank
deposits and the corresponding interest income, certain bank
and other borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large
portion of purchases and part of sales of gas. The directors of
the Company consider the transactions with these government-
related entities are within normal business operations and are
carried out on market terms. The Group has established its pricing
strategies and these strategies do not depend on whether or not
the counterparties are government related entities.

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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40. BEATIHE (&) 40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)
AEMETEEEAEMS : Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—EB-N\F —E—+tF
2018 2017
FHT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
SRR Short-term benefits 53,710 65,789
& BRIKEF Post-employment benefits 1,223 945
54,933 66,734
41. EXEER 41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AEBERHEERABREEEBAH The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
FRENEMFEIERRITREAMSE continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
BEEE MR FE o NEBIRE S through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
EXERKERARDESRTRKRFTE monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
BERRE URRABRANEER its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
ERACHHEREUANERBESR sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
TR AEERFTRTFE 2ERR are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
& o overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
AEBHNEAEERFEARG (BER The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
TREMEE) RELXER T8 bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank balances and
RITHEBEARAHEE AEERAR equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
(REETER - REGBFREMREE capital, retained profits and other reserves.
k) o
AEEERETHRNEARE - B The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
BERABERNKARABBERR T # regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
ARH—85  WREREETHHE cost of capital and the associated risks, and take appropriate
REEHNERERE  BFRTRE actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
BATHAR - BITHENBEERBES - of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts

or the redemption of existing debts.
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42. €T A

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

(a) &mMIEER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E-)F 2018
THEE Financial assets
UATESER
HEHA
HipzmWzE REHRAE
BRARE JIRNESBEE o]
Equity
investments
at fair value Financial
through other assets at
comprehensive amortised
income cost Total
TEx TET TEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AR PERE A HE8E AH b2 Equity investments at fair value
B BRAEE through other comprehensive
income 123,605 - 123,605
FEWE F RN Trade receivables - 4,178,001 4,178,001
STAHMBEWEZREMEER Financial assets included in other
TRIEE receivables and other assets - 2,919,906 2,919,906
BB TER Pledged bank deposits - 7,550 7,550
RITERRIE S Bank balances and cash - 10,392,696 10,392,696
123,605 17,498,153 17,621,758
2HERE Financial liabilities
E77¢: £)2%:N
JIRMEMEE
Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost

FHExT

HK$’000

kNS G0 Loans from associates 43,957

FERRE SR Trade payables 6,319,847

SRIT R EMER Bank and other borrowings 2,886,343

BEER Senior notes 5,823,508
STAEMEMBEREEMBEN Financial liabilities included in other payables

TRIBE and other liabilities 4,818,293

19,891,948

EBRRERERLAT =T \FFH
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42. €WMITH (&)
(a) £«BMIEMER (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

—E—fF 2017
THEE Financial assets
=595 A E
FEUBR X SREE B
Available-for-
Loans and Sale financial
receivables assets Total
FHET FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AHPERE Available-for-sale investments - 67,006 67,006
FEWE SR Trade receivables 4,334,126 = 4,334,126
SHAEMEWESRHMEER Financial assets included in
TREE other receivables and
other assets 1,396,750 - 1,396,750
BIEARITER Pledged bank deposits 11,753 - 11,753
BITEBREIRS Bank balances and cash 10,355,981 - 10,355,981
16,098,610 67,006 16,165,616
ZHEAE Financial liabilities
B SH R R
RS MAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FHT
HK$'000
ERE SRR Trade payables 6,618,690
RIT R E MR Bank and other borrowings 5,579,185
BREE Senior notes 5,787,534
STAEMEMABEREEMBEN Financial liabilities included in other payables and
TRAas other liabilities 1,375,193
19,360,602

216 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



42. ST R (&)

BE_Z-\Ft-A=1+—RLFE

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) BKEEREBEZERBER (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
AEENFESRMTAGENR The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
TEFEEEZSHTAEMEE investments at fair value through other comprehensive
WENBRAEE - RERS - B income, deposits for an investment, trade and other
WE SRR R HEAMEREK - B receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
MRTEFR - RITEHRRRE - cash, other deposits, trade and other payables, bank and
HinfF® - BN E SRR EHAM other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term liabilities.
AR RITREMES « B% Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
EBRREMRBAEE ZEEM respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
TEMNFBEHRBERNES M instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
i o HZE e m T EMEENE R are set out below. The Group manages and monitors these
RANADRR 52 5 R Y IR =R exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
TX o AEBEERERZER on a timely and effective manner.

B - MEMRAEIRIS KA MREUEE
o
SR B Foreign currency risk
VAT &0 51) 2 5 [ 7 3 45 BR R DA SN The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
B (SEEEERB2IEEEU monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
SN ES) FIENEREERE currencies other than the functional currency of the respective
BaE (EEZRERITERRIR group entities, which are mainly bank balances and cash,
® ROKREMEERELER bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at the end of
%) MBRMEE : the reporting period are as follows:
—E-N\F —E—t
2018 2017
FHT FHET
HK$000 HK$000
BE Assets
ELRARE US$ against RMB 144,467 189,501
ETLHET US$ against HK$ 6,462 8,831
BILHARE HK$ against RMB 53,459 133,097
AREEH BT RMB against HK$ 60,418 127,024
afE Liabilities
ETLAETT US$ against HK$ 5,823,508 5,787,534
HEXARK JPY against RMB 256,235 264,622

REBE BRI INEE R
By ATESIESMNE R - AERER
e & TS AR NS IR Bl A (R 4
ONE R o BT E R 6 BB
EREHINERR -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency
risk. Management will consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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42. ST R (&)

(b) HIBEBEEBEERBE (&) (b)

SRR ()
SN E DT

TREIAEEHREEEEHHE
BINEE B BT TN A
BT ¥5% (ZF — £ F :5%)
R RE - 5% (28— L4 ¢
5%) ARER  REHEEY
HNEE [ SR AT B H IR S B AT (A A
BE - GRRESMEREMARE
BRUIINE BEBEMKERIER -
W A FERIRINEE 5% (ZF
— Lt F:5%) B AEHRE
H oo REITEBITHEN - Bt
FRESMIABIE—REE (U
BILIEBEINEEEE) UETA
BNMEH WEBEENHE
B E M H AR INE EF5%
T —+F :5%) AIE&HRX
TEABREAIEM  MERE
BEHEBIE RS S AEINET
B5% (Z T —+F :5%) " fl
FAB AN AT REX B EEER
MM ER THESREAEAR -

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2017: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following foreign
currencies. 5% (2017: 5%) is the sensitivity rate which
represents management’s assessment of the possible change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for the 5%
(2017: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis excludes balances which are denominated in US$
for an entity with HK$ as its functional currency since US$
is pegged to HK$. A positive number indicates an increase
in pre-tax profit for the year when the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities strengthens 5% (2017: 5%)
against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% (2017: 5%)
weakening of the relevant functional currencies of the group
entities against the relevant foreign currencies, there would
be an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the
year and the balances below would be negative.

—E-N\E —E—+F

2018 2017

FHBT FT

HK$’000 HK$'000
EPH USs$

F T AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 7,223 9,475
BT HK$

F T AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 2,673 6,655
=] JPY

F AT AR Pre-tax profit for the year (12,812) (13,231)
AR#E RMB

F T AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 3,021 6,351

ERERA  ARNEFRERN
[E\ B I T R R 2 F )RR - Bt
FRE DM TR KRE B BINE
B -
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In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during

the year.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to prevailing market interest rate on bank balances and
pledged bank deposits (see notes 26 and 25 for details of
these balances) and floating-rate amounts due from/to joint
ventures, amounts due to intermediate holding companies
and bank and other borrowings (see notes 23, 27 and 30 for
details of these borrowings). The management continuously
monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider further
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and senior notes (see notes 30, 23 and 31
for details). The management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances,
other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts due from/
to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate holding
companies and bank and other borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming those balances outstanding at the end of
each reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
10 or 50 basis points increase or decrease which represents
the management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates is used.
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(b) HIBEBEEBEERBE (&) (b)

FIE @b (F)
FIEGBEET (&)
i BEHERRITAR - Hit

Fk - BERRITHEAR LB,
FER & & AR FENAE L

/¥101I%¥ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁm Figd
Brg ABE-T—N\F+=
A=+—R8 L FENHE G
#hn,/ 3 410,133,000% 7T (=
T —+4 19,959,000 7T) ° fid
A, ﬂﬁ&EfMﬁEM&FEHEP
MZERQRRBEBOFE LR

/;501 B2 B FrA H b
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A/ #030,630,0007 7T (=
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits, pledged
bank deposits and amounts due from/to joint ventures carried
at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2018 would increase/decrease
by HK$10,133,000 (2017: HK$9,959,000). If the interest rate
on floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amounts due
to intermediate holding companies had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December, 2018 would
decrease/increase by HK$30,630,000 (2017: HK$26,573,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its floating-rate bank and
other borrowings and amounts due to intermediate holding
companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and People’s Bank
of China Base Rate.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has policies in place for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the

counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31st December, 2018. The

MNEEEXREBRNZAEER amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
% FIZ2IINEEAERMEEN assets.
HBARTEE -
128 AFEH
FEFE >HEREEBFA
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
K&1 Kf2 B3 il &g
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AR TER TiEx TiEn iR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
i S UNGIE S Amounts due from joint ventures 430,443 - - - 430,443
JE U Bt N B FIE Amounts due from associates 48,494 - - - 48,494
FEUZ SRR AGAS B FRIE  Amounts due from non-controlling
shargholders 18,750 - - - 18,750
JE UL [F) ZX BT B /A 17K I8 Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 1,216,695 - - - 1,216,695
JEUG P RS A% 72 &) KT8 Amounts due from an intermediate
holding company 573,610 - - - 573,610
RIS E 5 BR R Trade receivables* - - - 4,374,971 4,374,971
A R Other receivables™ 700,069 - - - 700,069
BRI TITR Pledged bank deposits 7550 - - - 7,550
RITEBRRE S Bank balances and cash 10,392,696 - - - 10,392,696
13,388,307 - - 4,374971 17,763,278

* SN SR BB A AR E
B W E 5 8RR E - A R
BEENERERRERY B
HxMIFE23

o Bt ARMBUGRO S REE
Kaf - BEENBETRERE
ENEERRE NL#RET
REXREM AEEFRERK
BRIER]-

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

o

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not
past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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AEEHBRERS SR EIFRIER
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2017

At 31st December, 2017, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in relation to the receivables from joint ventures
amounting to HK$424,784,000. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management has reviewed the recoverable
amount of each receivable from its joint ventures at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2018, the Group has net current liabilities
of HK$9,219,838,000. Taking into account of the unutilised
banking facilities of HK$10,146,414,000 and internally
generated funds of the Group and the other factors described
in note 2, the Group has sufficient working capital for its
present requirements for the next twelve months from 31st
December, 2018.
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42. €T A (&) 42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) HHEEKREBEEZREE (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
FEBEEE (&) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TREFMSIAEEEHEEN The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
FrbRFH - ZREZE/RE maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
B (ERAEETHEERETHH up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
RPEHH) OARRRSRER liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
o ZRBENEBERAEHIRE can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and
ME principal cash flows.
REXS BE-F AERES
MEFHHR FI-% EfRBRIE BBLE MEAE REE
Weighted ~ Ondemand  Over 1 year Total
average  orlessthan but not more Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year than5 years 5years  cash flows amounts

% TiEn T T ThL TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

W=Z-NE+-A=+-8 At 31st December, 2018
EREAERREAERR Trade and other payables

-%E - interest-free - 10,618,351 - - 10,618,351 10,618,351
S ~ interest bearing 140 354,312 - - 354,312 349,420
PITREMES Bank and other borrowings 212 2,693,415 42,441 257912 2,993,768 2,886,343
BEEE Senior notes 4.80 264,361 6,535,584 - 6,799,945 5,823,508
EhERHEE Other long-term liabilties 3.95 26,693 57820 146,120 230,633 214,326

13,957,132 6,635,845 404,032 20,997,009 19,891,948

WZZ-t5+-A=t-8 At 31st December, 2017
ERNE SR RAMERT Trade and other payables

%8 - interest-free = 7,346,838 - - 7,346,838 7,346,838
—iE - interest bearing 1.40 466,844 - - 466,844 460,398
BORAMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.80 5,425,051 36,350 231,577 5,692,978 5,579,185
BrzE Senior notes 480 263,819 6,917,930 - 7,181,749 5,787,534
AREEE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 28,366 47,259 151,252 226,877 186,647
13,530,918 7,001,539 382,829 20,915,286 19,360,602

224 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial
(Continued)

risk management objectives and policies

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank and other borrowings with repayment on demand
clauses are included in the “on demand or less than 1
year” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st
December 2018, the aggregate carrying amounts of these
bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,610,000,000
(2017: HK$3,940,000,000). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors of the Company do not
believe that it is probable that the lenders will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
directors of the Company believe that such bank and other
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of
which are set out in the table below:

RERY BB-F ABRRS
EFIRE -5 ETHBIE BBRE REAE KAE
Weighted ~ Ondemand  Over 1 year Total
average  orlessthan  but not more Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year  than5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
% TR TR FEn FiEn TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-NE+=A=+-R At31st December, 2018
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 219 2,665,332 - - 2,665,332 2,610,000
RZB-t%+=A=1-H At31st December, 2017
FOREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.96 3,965,404 - = 3,965,404 3,940,000

1457 By R o ) 2 B LA 4Rk B R
5 MR KRR - B L
FESBABNTETASEN

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group establishes the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to perform the
valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities
are stated below.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c¢) Fair value measurements of financial
(Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured

at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value at the end of each reporting period. The following

table gives information about how the fair values of these

financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

#ERE EXTTEE TUREBARE
tREE RTGIRENATE ATESR  RIEBAHE B HE HAVENEE BB
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fair value technique(s) unobservable unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
“E-0E EtR
2018 2017
T ERE - rRAES - E-R) ABOEAREAE  TER NER NER
5,654,000
Available-for-sale - Listed equity Level 1(i) Quoted bid pricesin -~ N/A N/A N/A
investments securties - an active market
HK$5,654,000
RERDTESAAMZE LoRAR%- - g ERTAMREAE  TER TR TR
Wt RARE 5,456,00057
Equity investments Listed equity - Level 1(i) Quoted bid prices in -~ N/A N/A N/A
designated at fair securities - an active market
value through other HK$5,456,000
comprehensive income
EPRRERERAE —T—\FFR
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

REFUALT M EEZ L FEGT
BHEHEEN A FE (&)

Fair value measurements of financial

(Continued)

instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

#ERE EXTTRR FUERB LS
tHEE RTSIRENATE ATESER  RITBAEE BAHE HAVENEE  HRE
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fair value technique(s) unobservable unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s)  input(s) inputs to fair value ~Sensitivity
—2-)\f i g
2018 217
BERRTEIALREE FLuRAR%- - F=/i)  HEEE REPTRE . BEAE ATED BREN/HI5%
hatBARE 118,149,000 T PIS  TWFE(PB): & WEHATERN/
LEEE/ MR 71/06,681,893%
5 HE FERE
SHEI(EV/EBITA)AfE
¥
Equity investments Non-listed equity - Level 3(iii) Vialuation multiples  Average PJE, The higher the 5% increase
designated at fair securities - PIS, PIB, EVIEBITA  multiples, the higher [decrease in
value through other HK$118,149,000 muttiples of the fair value multiples would
comprehensive income peers result in increase/
decrease in
fair value by
HK$6,681,893
REL nds  ATEA Em/ RY5%
HiE TEHATERD/
112,738,585 7T

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

Discount for lack of
marketability

The higher the
discount, the lower
the fair value

5% increase
[decrease in
discount would
result in decrease/
increase in

fair value by
HK$2,738,585
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical asset or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 in the current
and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 31) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities have
been determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—Z-NF —T—tf
2018 2017
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BB M RE Property, plant and equipment 986 1,140
RIB AR ETIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,850,031 13,850,031
JE UL BT /B~ R RIR Amounts due from subsidiaries 11,955,425 12,978,580
HEARRENER Loan to a subsidiary - 29,785
25,806,442 26,859,536
MBEE Current assets
H i FE U R Other receivables 169,526 143,409
JiE Uk B BB A R FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 602,976 88,162
RITHEBRRIA S Bank balances and cash 142,739 196,432
915,241 428,003
Uk N=NE Current liabilities
HEtENRRETER Other payables and accrued charges 297,426 193,232
JETB B A B) 08 Amounts due to subsidiaries 387,788 1,445,147
MEARIREAER Loan from a subsidiary 934,269 1,123,775
FEA P AR A B F0B Amounts due to an intermediate
holding company 3,501,781 -
RITEE Bank borrowings 2,610,000 5,290,000
7,731,264 8,052,154
mEEEFE Net current liabilities (6,816,023) (7,624,151)
18,990,419 19,235,385
BAR N HE Capital and reserves
A&7 Share capital 222,401 222,401
B Reserves 12,990,978 13,225,450
13,213,379 183,447,851
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
BRER Senior notes 5,777,040 5,787,534
5,777,040 5,787,534
18,990,419 19,235,385

EEMRRERERAT —F
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44. AT BRREK ()

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

THE COMPANY (Continued)

. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

PIN/NGTE = Movement in the Company’s reserves:
AEBTE
R EE MAEH BEZRHA ERGE REER &t
Shares
held for
incentive
Share Contributed award Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
THET THET TET FET FTET FTHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R=—Z—tF—HF—H At 1st January, 2017 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 401,665 13,310,796
ERHEF N2 EUELEE Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 894,851 894,851
BERRE Dividends paid = = = = (980,197) (980,197)
RZZ—tF
+-A=t+—H At 31st December, 2017 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 316,319 13,225,450
FRGEFI M EEYESAE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 963,565 963,565
ERRRE Dividends paid = = = - (1,198,037)  (1,198,037)
RZZE—\F
+-A=+—8H At 31st December, 2018 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 81,847 12,990,978

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018



e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018
45. TEMB AR EHR 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
i A B — MR E R General information of subsidiaries
RBESRR AEERBERARINER Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
By o period are set out below.
BRTRAR
EMAL L BE/ERER AEEEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-N\E —T—+F
2018 2017
% %
ERRIAERDLA EEELHS LimikaETT 100 100 #KEHER
China Resources Gas Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited HERE LmAR1,000% T 100 100 #REER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
BRERRRERAT FE AR%50,000,0007C 80.4 804 HERLR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
FMEBRRERAR HE 15,000,000 7T 70 70 HERCAREEGRER
PRC US$15,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERRRBERRR"2 HE 16,000,000% 7T 50 50 WHERICRREBHRESR
PRC US$16,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

ERRRERERAT B /\EFR
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45. T EMBATER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

MEARN—RER (&)
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ERTRERE
ERAL B BRA/EHER rEEELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TRER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-N\E ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
HEERRRARARS hE 4,000,000% 7 100 100 WHERELEREEGRES
PRC US$4,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ELERRRERAR HE 11,000,000 7 57.11 5711 HERCFREBGRES
PRC US$11,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
AREBRRERAR HE AR ¥94,000,0007C 75 75 HERCRAREREREE
PRC RMB94,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

connection of gas
pipelines
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEMBEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLARMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRAR
ERAL B BA/EMRER rEEELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TRER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-N\E ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
GRERRRERAR FE AR #50,000,0007T 75 75 WERLARERGREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ZLEBRRERAA) HE AE#70,000,0007C 7143 7143 BERCARERBIEE
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EHERRRERARP HE AR ¥10,000,0007C 100 100 WHERELERERGRES
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. T EMBATER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

MEARN—RER (&)

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

ERTRERE
ERAL B BRA/EHER rEEELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TRER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-N\E ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
BIEBRRERARS hE AR #10,000,0007C 100 100 WHERELEREEGRESD
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REEBRRBERLR HE AR%51,300,0007C 51 51 HERELRERENGREE
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
MRERRRERAR HE 7,788,900% T 100 100 HERELREERGREE
PRC US$7,788,900 Sale of liquefied gas and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEMBEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRAR
ERAL B BA/EMRER rEEELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TREK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“EB-\E ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
fERRRERAR FE AR #29,890,6007T 51 51 HERLEREEHREE
PRC RMB29,890,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMNEBRRARAR HE AR %80,000,0007C 70 70 BERCARERGREE
PRC RMB80,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
AHERRRARAR HE AR5,000,0007C 100 100 HERELREESGREE
PRC RMB5,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR



A SRR EE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. T EMBATER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

MEARN—RER (&)

BRITRAR
TMAL KL BRAE/#RER AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable

238

NCES: incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E-NF —T—+LF
2018 2017
% %
ERMMNEEBRRERAR H AE#50,000,0007 100 100 HEREARESEREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BMEREREERAF H AR 950,000,000 80 80 HWERICERERRRES
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BRIEERRRARAA) H AR 5665,700,0007C 70 70 HERCARESEREE
PRC RMB665,700,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEHBEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLATM—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRAE
B AE L BRAE/#RER AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NCES: incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-N\E —T—+F
2018 2017
% %
BHERRRERRR"S E 29,980,000% 7T 50 50 WERCERERBREE
PRC US$29,980,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BEERRAARAR® HE AR 1286,582,8587C 51 51 HERLEREEHREE
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ZMNEBREERAR E AR%50,000,0007C 95.95 9595 HERCARERBREE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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BE—Z—\Ft+_A=1+—HIEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEHBEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLATM—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRAE
B AE L BRAE/#RER AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NCES: incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE-\E —ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
REZEHRABERAR E AR55,000,0007C 70 70 BERCARERGRER
PRC RMB55,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
FREBRRARDA HE AE300,190,0007C 55 55 HERILEREEHREE
PRC RMB300,190,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REERRR () BRRA2 HE AR®300,000,0007T 50 50 HERLEREEHREE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEHBEARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MEBLATM—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
ERTRAE
B AE L BRAE/#RER AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NCES: incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZE-\E —ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
ZHEBRRARAR FE AE258,686,1007T 65 65 HERELAKEXBREE
PRC RMB258,686,100 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REREBRRARDOA) FE AR 252,000,000 65 65 HERCRARERRRES
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HIEBRRERAAFS HE AR #150,000,0007T 51 51 WERCRRESBREE
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas
pipelines

EBRRERERDT —Z—\FFR
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BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEMBRARER (&)

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

MEARN—RER (&)

! ZERREFBEUAFINE B DENTY

2 MR AREE IR 850% M EHEER A
B MAKERBERESZMNES
AIMERES) o Bt - ZARIKRA
AEERHBRF

: ZERRETENINEBEDENTY

4 AEEFEWEB A RI54%04E - WiR
BRRBHEDES7.11%5F

s HREREBRZINESSRT R 2
s SR (R 7 7 S (1 5 5% B I 1 R RO 4E
B RERBEXRBAENRE A
S—EBERHRABZEL T EEMES
MERRERE  MASEERE
HZMBARNERED - At &
RAANERIMEARBERHEB AT o

BEERRAERARBAAAREEE
Ao A M Bt BB ARG
BHARBRESE - LEBEEMK
g avai T S

RZE—NER-_FE—+t&+_A=
+—BHERNEMER SHBATR
MEAARERES -

ARBEERER  ERMAIINAEE
MEAREAEENEEREERS
BEEARTE ARAESFAR  H
FIEAMKIE DR MFEB RS ARG B
It e

(Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

L These companies were established in the PRC in the form of sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able to nominate
over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the company is
regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

8 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprises.

& The Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares profit
at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

5 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment and
financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder would
agree the appointment of all senior management nominated by the
Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for as a subsidiary of
the Group.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their places
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2018 and 2017 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z- \F+-_A=1t—RALFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

Gl non-controlling interests
TRINTEBEREZERERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of
EIFE2EM B ARE : the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
LM AR 32 4 B
REIBEEBE FRRERFTE
Place of BEERELH AEFFERER AT R FERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
AR ERB and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
“B-N\F T+t ZB-NF —T+F ZB-N\Ff T 4F
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
% % TET TET TR T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FMEBRRERERAR H 30 30 33,581 31,388 100,241 72,469
PRC
ESEBRABRAF HE 50 50 22,464 20,962 130,268 130,144
PRC
EGHEBRRARRA HE 28.57 28.57 26,973 30,735 100,484 110,218
PRC
REERRRERAF H 49 49 63,247 62,270 183,683 232,194
PRC
BRIZEEERAARAR & 30 30 33,795 33,442 332,715 342,062
PRC
EHERRRERAR H 50 50 389,612 371,174 1,187,800 1,174,459
PRC
ELEBRRERAA H 42.89 42.89 40,027 37,749 141,039 126,147
PRC
RAEBRRERDA H 45 45 11,012 5,054 170,038 168,886
PRC
EBRRERERAT —T— \FER
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HE-T - \G+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. TEMBARER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
BEERIERERNIEDEMNE R Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
RS (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
AL it B
REZEXHE FERES T
Place of BRI AEFIFEREZNER R FERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
ARER and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests

ZE-0\F  “E+tF ZEB-\f —T+F ZBE-\F —ZTF

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

% % THT THL THT TET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

REEERE (RE) h 50 50 10,661 15,312 204,861 202,655
BRATA PRC

BHEBRRER AR ey 20 20 3,665 170,069 387244 1,014,223
PRC

ZhHEBRRAERAR e 35 35 33,785 29,291 269,951 240,296
PRC

BEEERRIERAR h 35 35 8,292 7,976 136,289 135,195
PRC

EREBRRERAH ey 49 49 67,692 57,224 400,897 346,969
PRC

BTEBRIERAA F 49 49 149,118 128,575 530,294 375,028
PRC

BEFERERNEREEX 3,251,556 2,505,732

Lol=NG

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests

7,527,360 7,176,677

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z-\Ft-A=1+—RLFE

e ISR M

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

46. T ESE N TEL 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
REBEGRE
R 2 Attributable
NEER Place of EMER equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-N\E —ZT—+F
2018 2017
% %
BEMEREERRERAF FE AR#117,939,5007T 40 40 HERCRRERERES
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ERERERRRERAA & AEH#717,578,6007T 49 49 HERCRLEBRBREE
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEERRRERAF HE AE#194,541,0007C 51 51 HERCARERBRES
PRC RMB194,541,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EREBRRAERRAR HE AR®1,000,000,0007T 49 49 HEBRLEMERGREE
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas

EEMRRERERAT —F

and connection of
gas pipelines
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-T -/ \G+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

Name of company

establishment

Registered capital

of the Group
“E-NE —TLF

46. TESEQNTER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)
REBESRE
RO 3 2 Attributable
NEER Place of EMER equity interest TERER

Principal activities

2018 2017
% %
HEERRRERAA HE AR #200,000,0007T 50 50 HERCAREZBIESE
PRC RMB200,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
NIZEBERRERAR HE AE#129,068,8007C 51 51 HERCERERGREE
PRC RMB 129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BILEBRTRAERAH HE AR #148,000,0007T 50 50 WHERELELREEGREE
PRC RMB 148,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
M ERERRRARNERAT HE AR#122,423,3727T 50 50 HWERIRRERGREE
PRC RMB122,423,372 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FILAARRBRAR HE AER#164,444,4007T 55 55 HERICAREBBREE
PRC RMB164,444,400 Sale of liquefied gas

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018

and connection of
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46. T ES

NGRS
Name of company

ENREH (&)

FR L1t 2
Place of

establishment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z-\Ft-A=1+—RLFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

VENTURES (Continued)

RE@ESLRE
Attributable
equity interest

HMER
Registered capital

of the Group

e ISR M

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

TEXB
Principal activities

—E-NE —T—LF
2018 2017
% %
HETRAER AR HE AK#100,000,0007T 49 49 BERCRERERGREE
PRC RMB 100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BMEBRRERAR HE AR #488,376,0007T 49 49 HERCERERERESD
PRC RMB488,376,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ERERRRARAA HE AR #5,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCRRERERESR
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ZEBERRRERAH HE AR %600,000,0007T 49 49 HERIEARERBREE
PRC RMB600,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas

EEMRRERERAT —F

and connection of
gas pipelines
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_T—N\E+=-F=+—HIEE
46. T ESENTEHR (&)

$EF§%?‘“E’]J&§§¢’JEEZKEI&
S NAIN—BEE - AR EE AT
LN BT R4 o iRtk - %
AR ARNEENEZE QT °

BN o> B
D) d mE

il

ARBEERER  LRMIINAEE
RERTHARBFANEEEER
CERBRAREEEFEER
ARBEZRE  HIHMEE
AFBERSAREBNITE °

\al

L\) 3 W

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT

VENTURES (Continued)

The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
which the decisions about the relevant activities require
the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.
Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2018

47. TEBENTER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
REQT/ WEAT
BHENRE
R Equity interest rEEELRE
NRER Place of ZREE held by the joint Attributable interest ~ TE¥HK
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries equity of the Group  Principal activities
ZE-0\F CFLF N CFtf
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
KEARREERD i AE%800,000,0007C 36 36 36 ¥  HERLELEZRGREE
BRAR PRC RMB800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

FIRLREAR HE ARH95590,0007C 27 27 25.92 25.92 HEXAR  RIEBERRARE
EAAT PRC RMB95,590,000 AREENREE

Sale of natural gas, LPG and gas
appliances and construction

gas pipelines
BEEMREERN HE AR #1,556,000,0007C 22.49 22.49 22.49 249 PERERESGRESR
BRAR® PRC RMB1,556,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EHRIERAMH HE AR40,000,000C 49 49 245 245 BERILRRESERES
EmMEERAA  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERTAERER T AR 540,000,000 36 36 36 3% HERIREREREE
BARRERAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
IEAARER Gk AR 30,000,0007 49 49 49 49  HEXRRRENBRER
BRAE PRC RMB30,000,000 Sale of natural gas and
connection of gas pipelines
* ZRBZBRNELBEFR S L & The company listed its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
e
ARREZRE  ERAVINAKE The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
GENRHAEBENERNEENRS opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
BEEAZE - ARAEERR - & results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
DIE A EEE N RM B ARE B associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
RITK ° result in particulars of excessive length.

EHRREZERAERAF

[l
A
N
=
N
i
i
59d

253



254

PBEHE

Financial Summary

4 RESULTS
HE+-_A=+—HIEE
Year ended 31st December
—T-mE —T-RF ZZT—F —T—+tF ZE-N\F
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHT FHBT FTET
WA REVENUE 28,717,025 32,834,025 32,916,149 39,837,597 51,165,371
ERBR PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3,349,129 3,803,107 4,437,808 4,910,867 5,888,411
By ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
KATEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 2,479,898 2,837,910 3,289,399 3,653,994 4,450,101
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 869,231 965,197 1,148,409 1,256,873 1,438,310
3,349,129 3,803,107 4,437,808 4,910,867 5,888,411
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+=-A=+—8H
31st December,
—F-mE —T-hRF ZT-R"F —T-tF IZB-N\f
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET FTET
BEEAE TOTAL ASSETS 57,751,698 59,896,272 59,675,118 68,763,804 73,571,778
8E8E TOTAL LIABILITIES (36,623,779) (37,409,266) (35,970,325) (39,594,479) (41,963,298)
BRABE TOTAL EQUITY 21,127,919 22,487,006 23,704,793 29,169,325 31,608,480
AATEE A EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
R OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 16,063,368 17,009,359 17,768,243 21,992,648 24,081,120
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 5,064,551 5,477,647 5,936,550 7,176,677 7,527,360
BRAHBE TOTAL EQUITY 21,127,919 22,487,006 23,704,793 29,169,325 31,608,480

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2018
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
(re-designated as Non-executive Director on 31st January, 2019)

Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 28th November, 2018)

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 28th November, 2018)

Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
(re-designated as Non-executive Directors on 31st January, 2019)

Mr. DU Wenmin (resigned on 3rd August, 2018)

Mr. WEI Bin (resigned on 19th January, 2018)

Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WANG Yan

Madam WAN Suet Fei (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. JING Shiging (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian (retired on 23rd May, 2018)

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. QIN Chaokui (resigned on 3rd August, 2018)

Mr. YANG Yuchuan (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. HU Xiaoyong (appointed on 31st January, 2019)

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)

Mr. WEI Bin (ceased on 19th January, 2018)
Mr. WANG Yan

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian (retired on 23rd May, 2018)

Madam WAN Suet Fei (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. YANG Yuchuan (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
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REZEE

TEREE (ZF)
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EEH
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TtEEREES

SEIESRE (FE)
(RZZE—NF+—AZTNAEZF)
FolZt (£/)
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BEERE (FE)
(RZZE—NERA-+=REZEIR
—E—-)\F+—A=+\HET)

=HEBLLE

FEELEE (RN \FNA=ZBHT)

BENEE (RZZ—N\FNA=BEZMT)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)

Mr. DU Wenmin (resigned on 3rd August, 2018)

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. JING Shiging (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. HU Xiaoyong (appointed on 31st January, 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo (ceased on 28th November, 2018)

Mr. DU Wenmin (resigned on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian (retired on 23rd May, 2018)

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. QIN Chaokui (resigned on 3rd August, 2018)

Mr. JING Shiging (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. YANG Yuchuan (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. WEI Bin (ceased resigned on 19th January, 2018)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chairman) (appointed on 28th November, 2018)
Ms. YU Jian (Chairman) (retired on 23rd May, 2018)
Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chairman) (appointed on 23rd May 2018 and resigned

on 28th November, 2018)

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. QIN Chaokui (resigned on 3rd August, 2018)
Mr. YANG Yuchuan (appointed on 3rd August, 2018)
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Corporate Information

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-02

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(retired on 23 May 2018)

Messrs. Ernst & Young
(appointed on 23 May 2018)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

EBEBEE265 Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
#FEAE1901-02Z 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

&5 Telephone : 2593 8200
{85 Facsimile : 2598 8228
#8HE Website : WWWw.Crcgas.com

B E Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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